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PART I

Forward-looking statements

Unless the context otherwise requires, all references to “Energy Focus,” “we,” “us,” “our,” “our company,” or “the Company” refer
to Energy Focus, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries, and their respective predecessor entities for the
applicable periods, considered as a single enterprise.

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Annual Report”) includes statements that express our opinions, expectations,
beliefs, plans, objectives, assumptions or projections regarding future events or future results and therefore are, or may
be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These forward-looking statements
can generally be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology, including the terms “believes,” “estimates,”
“anticipates,” “expects,” “feels,” “seeks,” “forecasts,” “projects,” “intends,” “plans,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “could” or “would” or, in each case,
their negative or other variations or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements include all matters
that are not historical facts. They appear in a number of places throughout this Annual Report and include statements
regarding our intentions, beliefs, or current expectations concerning, among other things, our results of operations,
financial condition, liquidity, prospects, growth, strategies, capital expenditures, and the industry in which we operate.

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve risks and uncertainties because they relate to events and depend
on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Although we base these forward-looking statements on
assumptions that we believe are reasonable when made, we caution you that forward-looking statements are not
guarantees of future performance and that our actual results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and
industry developments may differ materially from statements made in or suggested by the forward-looking statements
contained in this Annual Report. In addition, even if our results of operations, financial condition and liquidity, and
industry developments are consistent with the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report, those
results or developments may not be indicative of results or developments in subsequent periods.

We believe that important factors that could cause our actual results to differ materially from forward-looking
statements include, but are not limited to, the risks and uncertainties outlined under “Risk Factors” under Item 1A and
other matters described in this Annual Report generally. Some of these factors include:

•our reliance on a limited number of customers, in particular our sales of products for the U.S. Navy, for a significant
portion of our revenue, and our ability to maintain or grow such sales levels;

•our history of operating losses and our ability to generate sufficient cash from operations or receive sufficient
financing, on acceptable terms, to continue our operations;
•general economic conditions in the United States and in other markets in which we operate;
•our ability to implement and manage our growth plans and control expenses to increase sales;
•our ability to increase demand in our targeted markets;
•the timing of large customer orders and significant expenses as we invest in growth opportunities;
•market acceptance of LED lighting technology;
•our dependence on military maritime customers and on the levels of government funding available to such customers;
•our ability to respond to new lighting technologies and market trends with safe and reliable products;
•our ability to compete effectively against companies with greater resources;
•our ability to protect our intellectual property rights and the impact of any type of legal claim or dispute;
•our ability to obtain critical components and finished products from third-party suppliers on acceptable terms;

•risks inherent in international markets, such as economic and political uncertainty, changing regulatory and tax
requirements and currency fluctuations; and
•our ability to maintain effective internal controls and otherwise comply with our obligations as a public company.
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In light of the foregoing, we caution you not to place undue reliance on our forward-looking statements. Any
forward-looking statement that we make in this Annual Report speaks only as of the date of such statement, and we
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement or to publicly announce the results of any revision to
any of those statements to reflect future events or developments. Comparisons of results for current and any prior
periods are not intended to express any future trends or indications of future performance, unless specifically
expressed as such, and should only be viewed as historical data.

Energy Focus® and Intellitube® are our registered trademarks. We may also refer to trademarks of other corporations
and organizations in this document.
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Energy Focus, Inc. and its subsidiaries engage in the design, development, manufacturing, marketing, installation, and
sale of energy-efficient lighting systems. We operate in a single industry segment, developing and selling our
energy-efficient light-emitting diode ("LED") lighting products into the military maritime market, and general
commercial and industrial markets. Recently, we have aligned our resources and focused our efforts on the sale of our
LED lighting products, in particular our military and commercial tubular LED (“TLED”) lines of products, into targeted
vertical markets. Our goal is to become a leader in the LED lighting retrofit market by replacing fluorescent lamps in
general purpose and high-intensity discharge (“HID”) lighting in low-bay and high-bay applications with our innovative,
high-quality TLED products.

During 2014, we shifted our focus away from the turnkey solutions business operated through our subsidiary, Energy
Focus LED Solutions, LLC, which had historically incurred lower gross margins, and as of September 2015, had fully
exited the solutions business. In August 2015, we sold our United Kingdom subsidiary, Crescent Lighting Limited. As
a result of exiting the turnkey solutions and Crescent Lighting Limited businesses, we have eliminated all net sales
and expenses associated with both businesses from the Consolidated Statements of Operations and have reported the
net loss as discontinued operations. Please refer to Note 3, "Discontinued Operations," for more information on our
disposition of these businesses.

The Company was founded in 1985 as Fiberstars, Inc., a California corporation, and reincorporated in Delaware in
November 2006. In May 2007, Fiberstars, Inc. merged with and became Energy Focus, Inc., also a Delaware
corporation. Our principal executive offices are located at 32000 Aurora Road, Suite B, Solon, Ohio 44139. Our
telephone number is 440.715.1300. Our website address is www.energyfocusinc.com. Information on our website is
not part of this Annual Report.

Our industry

We are committed to developing and bringing our high-quality, energy-efficient, long-lived and mercury-free TLED
products to our targeted military maritime, government, and commercial and industrial markets to replace linear
fluorescent lamps in general purpose lighting applications and HID lamps in low-bay and high-bay lighting
applications. We believe there is a significant growth opportunity for our business as the lighting market continues its
transition to more energy-efficient technologies such as LED lighting, driven by technological improvements and
emerging regulatory requirements. As the efficiency and cost of LED lighting continue to improve, we believe that
market adoption will accelerate, particularly in commercial and industrial applications, due to the significant potential
for energy savings and the early stage of LED adoption in these applications.

Our products

We produce, source, and/or market a wide variety of LED lighting technologies to serve our primary end markets,
including the following:

Military maritime products to serve the U.S. Navy and allied foreign navies:

•Military Intellitube®;
•Military globe lights;
•Military berth light; and
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Commercial products to serve our targeted and general commercial and industrial markets:

•Commercial Intellitube® TLED replacement for linear fluorescent lamps;
•Direct-wire TLED replacements for linear fluorescent lamps;
•LED dock lights;
•Vapor tight lighting;
•Low-bay and high-bay lighting, for HID applications; and
•LED retrofit kits.

The key features of our products are as follows:

3
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•Many of our products meet the lighting efficiency standards mandated by the Energy Independence and Security Act
of 2007.

•Many of our products qualify for federal and state tax and rebate incentives for commercial and residential consumers
in certain states.

•Many of our products make use of proprietary optical and electronics delivery systems that enable high efficiencies
with superior lighting qualities.

Our strengths and strategy

Our LED products are more energy-efficient than traditional lighting products such as incandescent bulbs and
fluorescent lamps, and we believe they can provide significant long-term energy and maintenance cost savings to
potential clients.

Our strengths, which we believe provide a strategic competitive advantage, include the following:

•providing what we believe to be the only military-spec qualified LED fluorescent replacement lamps for the U.S.
Navy;

•owning and controlling the development, design, and construction of our TLED products to ensure performance,
quality, and cost advantages;

•
providing our commercial Intellitube® product, which we believe is the first single end powered TLED that is UL
approved to work with both direct wire, as a single ended lamp, as well as an end-to-end lamp for direct fit into
ballasted fixtures;

•concentrated on developing and providing high-quality, price competitive TLED lamps to replace fluorescent and
HID lamps for commercial and industrial markets;

•a long developmental history, with broad and intimate understanding of lighting technologies and LED lighting
applications;
•establishing production capabilities for TLED products that will be “Buy American”;
•product inventory availability through carrying limited SKUs; and

•a deep understanding of the adoption dynamics for energy-efficient lighting products in existing commercial and
industrial building markets.

Through our strengths, we seek to achieve the following objectives:

•become the LED lighting leader in the targeted markets;
•continuing sales growth and profitable financial performance;

•further penetration of our military-grade LED lighting products to the military maritime market, including both the
U.S. Navy and allied foreign navy market;

•replication of our success in the military maritime market by penetrating the government and commercial vertical
markets for our commercial LED lighting products; and

•a streamlined and high-performing organization that is focused on providing industry-leading LED lighting products
that generate energy savings and reduce carbon emissions for our clients.

Our strategy to achieve these objectives includes the following actions:

•continue to utilize our patents and proprietary know-how to develop innovative LED lighting products that are
differentiated by their quality, reliability, adaptability and cost of ownership;
•increase awareness and knowledge of our technology and offerings within our targeted markets;

•establish relationships with key clients and early adopters to demonstrate our technology and value in targeted vertical
markets;
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•rapidly scale our sales efforts to increase the penetration of our technology in our targeted markets; and
•expand selectively into geographical markets.

Targeted vertical markets
We are focusing on markets where the economic benefits of our lighting product offerings are most compelling. To do
so, we are currently targeting specific vertical and geographic segments within three markets: military maritime,
government, and commercial and industrial.

4
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We have achieved substantial growth in the military maritime market since 2014, capitalizing on our long-standing
relationship with the U.S. Navy and our status as what we believe to be the only U.S. Navy military-spec qualified
TLED lamp provider. In the second half of 2014, we began receiving sizable orders for our military Intellitube®

product as the Navy embarked on a fleet-wide LED retrofit project. Sales of our products to the U.S. Navy or
distributors for the U.S. Navy were approximately $51.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, or 80 percent
of total net sales. Through December 31, 2015, we believe approximately 30 percent of the Navy’s potentially
replaceable fluorescent tubes have been retrofitted with our military Intellitube® product.
We are optimistic that we will continue generating strong sales of our military Intellitube® product in the near-term as
the transformation of the U.S. Navy fleet to LED lighting continues. In addition, we announced our first order for the
Royal Australian Navy in the second quarter of 2015, and we believe there is a significant opportunity to build on our
success with the U.S. Navy by targeting allied foreign navies in the long term. We also believe that our success and
experience working with the U.S. military, coupled with the introduction of our commercial Intellitube® product in the
second quarter of 2015, as well as our capability to manufacture “Buy American” products, provides an enhanced
opportunity for us to market our products to approximately 200 major military bases in the U.S. Our efforts with
military bases are still in the early stages, but we are actively pursuing the opportunity.

In the commercial and industrial markets, we are currently targeting the following verticals in the United States:
healthcare, education, industrial and manufacturing, and national retail.

In healthcare, we are currently working with several hospital systems to introduce our products and demonstrate our
technology. Given the 24/7 lighting requirements of hospital systems, we believe the quality and value of our products
are particularly attractive. We are aggressively expanding our sales effort in the healthcare vertical market in an
attempt to increase our penetration, and in 2015 announced a supply agreement with a major northeast Ohio hospital
system to retrofit the system’s main campus.
In education, we are gaining traction in the K-12 market and have received orders to retrofit school districts in various
states. In addition, through a partnership in the TLED category with the Center for Green Schools at the U.S. Green
Building Council that we announced in the second quarter of 2015, we are working to build awareness and adoption
of our LED lighting technology in schools initially within our current geographic markets, including the North East,
Mid-Atlantic and Midwest. As we advocate for the benefits of LED lighting in schools, both in terms of
energy-efficiency and in creating a healthy learning environment, we believe additional opportunities to penetrate the
K-12 market will arise.

We are also in the early stages of our efforts in the industrial and manufacturing and national retail vertical markets,
which are large addressable markets and provide an attractive opportunity for us. In the industrial and manufacturing
market in particular, due to the usage of HID lighting, the energy savings that can be achieved by switching to our
LED products could be substantial and we believe we have attractive product offerings in this space.

Sales and marketing

Our products are sold through a combination of direct sales employees, independent sales representatives, electrical
and lighting contractors, and distributors.

We currently sell the majority of our products for the U.S. Navy through distributor and sales representative
arrangements. Until the third quarter of 2015, our primary distributor was LED Lighting Solutions Global, LLC (an
affiliate of Energy Management Products, LLC) (“LLS”), which now serves as a sales representative with respect to our
U.S. Navy business and a distributor for foreign navies and the U.S. Navy Military Sealift Command. In the third
quarter of 2015, we entered into exclusive distribution agreements for 2016 with Atlantic Diving Supply, Inc. (“ADS”)
and LLS, under which ADS and LLS purchase our products under minimum commitment requirements for supply to
the U.S. Navy, and to foreign navies and the U.S. Navy Military Sealift Command, respectively. Sales of our products
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for the U.S. Navy through ADS and LLS combined were $48.2 million during 2015, or 75 percent of our total sales
for the period. The remainder of our sales of products for the U.S. Navy in the year ended December 31, 2015 were
made pursuant to a contract we were awarded in 2011.

Within the commercial and industrial market, we continue to focus on direct corporate accounts, general contractors,
and lighting retrofit companies (“LRCs”) especially in the healthcare, education, industrial and manufacturing, and retail
markets. We intend to continue to expand our business development capabilities, sales organizations, and geographic
markets to support our efforts in these areas.
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Concentration of sales

In 2015, sales of our products to the U.S. Navy or to distributors for the U.S. Navy accounted for approximately 80
percent of net sales from continuing operations. Customers accounting for greater than 10 percent of our net sales
from continuing operations included LLS, which accounted for approximately 59 percent, and ADS, which accounted
for approximately 16 percent. There were no other customers accounting for greater than 10 percent of our net sales.

Competition

Our commercial lighting products compete against a variety of lighting products, including conventional light sources
such as compact fluorescent lamps and HID lamps, as well as other TLEDs and full fixture lighting products. Our
ability to compete depends substantially upon the superior performance and lower lifecycle cost of our products.
Principal competitors in our markets include large lamp manufacturers and lighting fixture companies, as well as
Asian TLED manufacturers whose financial resources may substantially exceed ours. These competitors may
introduce new or improved products that may reduce or eliminate some of the competitive advantage of our products.
We anticipate that the competition for our products will also come from new technologies that offer increased energy
efficiency, lower maintenance costs, and/or advanced features. In certain commercial applications, we compete with
LED systems produced by large lighting companies such as Royal Philips, CREE, Inc., Osram Sylvania, and GE, Inc.
Some of these competitors offer products with performance characteristics similar to those of our products.

In our military product line, we compete with a small number of qualified military lighting lamp and fixture suppliers,
who in the future might also provide LED lighting products.

Manufacturing and suppliers

We produce our lighting products and systems through a combination of internal manufacturing and assembly at our
Solon, Ohio facility, and sourced finished goods. Our internal lighting system manufacturing consists primarily of
final assembly, testing, and quality control. We have worked with a number of our vendors to design custom
components to meet our specific needs. Our quality assurance program provides for testing of all sub-assemblies at
key stages in the assembly process, as well as testing of finished products produced both internally and sourced
through third parties.

In an effort to reduce manufacturing costs, we have outsourced the production of certain parts and components, as
well as finished goods in certain product lines, to a small number of vendors in various locations throughout the
world, primarily in the United States and China. In some cases, we rely upon a single supplier to source certain
components, sub-assemblies, or finished goods. We continually attempt to improve our global supply chain practices
in order to satisfy client demands in terms of quality and volumes, while controlling our costs and achieving targeted
gross margins.

Additionally, we are establishing a "Buy American" line of TLEDs and we believe this will offer us a competitive
advantage in certain targeted vertical markets.

Product development

Product development is a key area of focus for us. Our product development team is dedicated to developing and
designing leading LED lighting products, and we have recently opened product development centers in Taiwan and
Minnesota.
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Gross product development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013 were $3.0 million, $1.7
million, and $3.5 million respectively. As we previously announced, in 2014 we curtailed our efforts on bidding on
research contracts and grants in order to focus our resources exclusively on projects and contracts that support LED
technologies.

Intellectual property

We have a policy of seeking to protect our intellectual property through patents, license agreements, trademark
registrations, confidential disclosure agreements, and trade secrets as management deems appropriate. We have
approximately 10 patents that we consider key to our current product lines. Additionally, we have various pending
United States patent applications, and various pending Patent Cooperation Treaty patent applications filed with the
World Intellectual Property Organization that serve as the basis for national patent filings in countries of interest. Our
issued patents expire at various times through July 2032. Generally, the term of patent protection is twenty years from
the earliest effective filing date of the patent application. There can be no assurance; however, that our issued patents
are valid or that any patents applied for will be issued, and that our competitors or clients will not copy aspects of our
lighting systems or obtain information that we regard as
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proprietary. There can also be no assurance that others will not independently develop products similar to ours. The
laws of some foreign countries in which we sell or may sell our products do not protect proprietary rights to products
to the same extent as the laws of the United States.

Insurance

All of our properties and equipment are covered by insurance and we believe that such insurance is adequate. In
addition, we maintain general liability and workers compensation insurance in amounts we believe to be consistent
with our risk of loss and industry practice.

Employees

At December 31, 2015, we had 122 full-time employees, 4 of whom were located in Taiwan and 118 in the United
States. None of our employees are subject to any collective bargaining agreement.

Business segments

During the third quarter of 2015, we completed the exit of our turnkey solutions business and reported the historical
results of that business as discontinued operations. We currently operate in a single business segment that includes the
marketing and sale of commercial, industrial, and military maritime lighting products, and research and development
services. Our products are sold primarily in North America through a combination of direct sales employees,
independent sales representatives, and distributors.

Please refer to Note 3, "Discontinued Operations" and Note 13, "Product and Geographic Information," included in
Item 8 of this Annual Report, for additional information.

Available information

Our website is located at www.energyfocusinc.com. We make available free of charge, on or through our website, our
annual, quarterly, and current reports, as well as any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable
after electronically filing such reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Information contained on our
website is not part of this Annual Report.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Risks associated with our business

We have a history of operating losses and may incur losses in the future.

While we reported net income from continuing operations of $9.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, we
have experienced net losses from continuing operations of approximately $4.2 million and $5.9 million for the years
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As of December 31, 2015, we had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately $34.6 million and an accumulated deficit of $80.1 million.

In order for us to attain sustainable profitability and growth, we will need to execute our marketing and sales plans for
our energy-efficient LED lighting products, develop new technologies and products that allow us to effectively
compete in new markets and continue to improve our supply chain. Our recent improved financial performance has
been due in large part to increased sales of our military maritime products for the U.S. Navy. In order to continue to
generate profits over the long-term, we will need to diversify our customer base and product offerings. Our efforts to
expand our offerings and reach additional markets are in their early stages and there can be no assurance we will be
successful.
We derive a significant portion of our revenue from a few customers and the loss of one of these customers, or a
reduction in their demand for our products, could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects.

Our customer base is highly concentrated. One or a few customers have represented a substantial portion of our net
sales and our concentration has recently increased as our sales of products for the U.S. Navy have grown. For the year
ended December 31, 2015, LLS and ADS, distributors for the U.S. Navy, accounted for approximately 59 percent and
16 percent, respectively, of net sales from continuing operations, and total sales of products for the U.S. Navy
accounted for approximately 80 percent of net sales from continuing operations. We anticipate that sales of products
for the U.S. Navy will continue to comprise a significant portion of our revenue in the near-term, and that a limited
number of customers could continue to comprise a substantial portion of our revenue for the foreseeable future.
In the fourth quarter of 2015, we entered into distribution agreements with ADS and LLS, under which ADS and LLS
purchase our products under minimum commitment requirements in regard to the applicable territories in order to
maintain exclusivity. We generally do not have long-term contracts with our customers that commit them to purchase
any minimum amount of our products or require them to continue to do business with us. Significant customers,
including distributors or end-users such as the U.S. Navy, could discontinue purchasing our products at any time. We
could lose business from the U.S. Navy or another significant customer for a variety of reasons, many of which are
outside of our control. These reasons could include changes in levels of funding available to military maritime
customers, our inability to comply with government contracting laws and regulations, changes in customers’
procurement strategies or their lighting retrofit plans, new competitors entering particular markets, our failure to keep
pace with technological advances and damage to our professional reputation, among others.

Even if we continue to do business with our significant customers, our concentration can cause variability in our
results because we cannot control the timing or amounts of their purchases. If a significant end-user like the U.S.
Navy, for example, changes the scope or timing of its energy efficiency initiatives, it could adversely affect our results
of operations and cash flows in particular periods.
Depressed general economic conditions may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

Our business is sensitive to changes in general economic conditions, both inside and outside the United States. An
economic downturn may adversely affect our business. Slow growth in the economy or an economic downturn could
adversely affect our ability to meet our working capital requirements and growth objectives, or could otherwise
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adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations. As a result, any general or market-specific
economic downturns, particularly those affecting construction and building renovation, or that cause end-users to
reduce or delay their purchases of lighting products, services, or retrofit activities, would have a material adverse
effect on our business, cash flows, financial condition and results of operations. LED lighting retrofit projects, in
particular, tend to require a significant capital commitment, which is offset by cost savings achieved over time. As
such, a lack of available capital, whether due to economic factors or conditions in the capital or debt markets, could
have the effect of reducing demand for our products.
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Our inability to diversify our customer base could adversely impact our business and operating results, and expanding
to new target markets may open us up to additional risks and challenges.
While we anticipate that a significant portion of our revenues will continue to be derived from sales of products for
the U.S. Navy in the near-term, in order to achieve our long-term growth goals, we will need to diversify our customer
base and product offerings and penetrate additional markets.
Our efforts to penetrate additional markets are generally in the early stages, and we cannot provide any assurance we
will be successful. Our initial sales cycle is long, generally six to twelve months or more, and each targeted market
may require us to develop different expertise and sales channels. We may dedicate significant resources to a targeted
customer or industry before we achieve meaningful results or are able to effectively evaluate our success. As we target
new customers and industries, we will also face different technological, pricing, supply, regulatory and competitive
challenges that we may not have experience with. As a result, our efforts to expand to new markets may not succeed,
may divert management resources from our existing operations and may require significant financial commitments to
unproven areas of our business, all of which may harm our financial performance.
If we are unable to manage future growth effectively, our profitability and liquidity could be adversely affected.
Our ability to achieve our desired growth depends on our execution in functional areas such as management, product
development, sales and marketing, finance and general administration and operations. To manage any future growth,
we must continue to improve our product development, distribution, operational and financial processes and systems
and expand, train and manage our employee base and control associated costs. Our efforts to grow our business, both
in terms of size and in diversity of customer bases served, will require rapid expansion in certain functional areas and
put a significant strain on our resources. We may incur significant expenses as we attempt to scale our resources and
make investments in our business that we believe are necessary to achieve long-term growth goals. If we are unable to
manage our growth effectively, our expenses could increase without a proportionate increase in revenue, our margins
could decrease, and our business and results of operations could be adversely affected.
Our operating results may fluctuate due to factors that are difficult to forecast and not within our control.

Our past operating results may not be accurate indicators of future performance, and you should not rely on such
results to predict our future performance. Our operating results have fluctuated significantly in the past, and could
fluctuate in the future. Factors that may contribute to fluctuations include:

•changes in aggregate capital spending, cyclicality and other economic conditions, or domestic and international
demand in the industries;

•the timing of large customer orders, particularly for the U.S. Navy, to which we may have limited visibility and
cannot control;
•our ability to effectively manage our working capital;

•our ability to generate increased demand in our targeted markets, particularly those in which we have limited
experience;
•our ability to satisfy consumer demands in a timely and cost-effective manner;
•pricing and availability of labor and materials;

•our inability to adjust certain fixed costs and expenses for changes in demand and the timing and significance of
expenditures that may be incurred to facilitate our growth;
•seasonal fluctuations in demand and our revenue; and
•disruption in component supply from foreign vendors.
We may require additional financing, and we may not be able to raise funds on favorable terms or at all.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2015, we raised approximately $23.6 million from a follow-on offering of
1,500,000 shares of common stock. Although we expect that the proceeds from that offering will provide sufficient
funding for the near-term, there is a risk that we will require additional external financing if our business does not
generate adequate cash flow or if our business plans change or require more investment than we currently anticipate.
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In addition, we terminated our revolving credit facility effective December 31, 2015 and do not have current plans to
enter into a replacement facility.
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If we require additional financing, we will evaluate all available external funding sources, but there can be no
assurance that we will obtain funding on acceptable terms or in a timely fashion or at all. Obtaining additional
financing contains risks, including:

•additional equity financing may not be available to us on satisfactory terms and any equity we are able to issue could
lead to dilution for current stockholders;

• loans or other debt instruments may have terms and/or conditions, such as interest rate, restrictive covenants
and control or revocation provisions, which are not acceptable to management or our Board of Directors;

•the current environment in capital markets combined with our capital constraints may prevent us from being able to
obtain adequate debt financing; and

•
if we fail to obtain required additional financing to grow our business, we would need to delay or scale back our
business plan, reduce our operating costs, or reduce our headcount, each of which would have a material adverse
effect on our business, future prospects, and financial condition.
A significant portion of our business is dependent upon the existence of government funding, which may not be
available into the future and could result in a reduction in sales and harm to our business.

We anticipate a significant portion of our near-term product sales will continue to come from the military maritime
market, which is reliant upon federal funding. In particular, sales of our products for the U.S. Navy have accounted for
a substantial portion of our net sales in recent periods and we expect that these sales will remain significant to our
results in the near-term. In addition, we are currently targeting sales to other entities dependent on governmental
funding, including foreign allied navies and U.S. military bases. If the U.S. Navy or any of these other target
customers abandon, curtail, or delay planned LED lighting retrofit projects as a result of the levels of funding
available to them, it would adversely affect our opportunities to generate product sales.

If LED lighting technology fails to gain widespread market acceptance or we are unable to respond effectively as new
lighting technologies and market trends emerge, our competitive position and our ability to generate revenue and
profits may be harmed.

To be successful, we depend on continued market acceptance of our existing LED technology. Although adoption of
LED lighting continues to grow, the use of LED lighting products for general illumination is in its early stages, is still
limited, and faces significant challenges. Potential customers may be reluctant to adopt LED lighting products as an
alternative to traditional lighting technology because of its higher initial cost or perceived risks relating to its novelty,
reliability, usefulness, light quality, and cost-effectiveness when compared to other established lighting sources
available in the market. Changes in economic and market conditions may also affect the marketability of some
traditional lighting technologies. For example, declining energy prices in certain regions or countries may favor
existing lighting technologies that are less energy-efficient, reducing the rate of adoption for LED lighting products in
those areas. Notwithstanding continued performance improvements and cost reductions of LED lighting, limited
customer awareness of the benefits of LED lighting products, lack of widely accepted standards governing LED
lighting products and customer unwillingness to adopt LED lighting products could significantly limit the demand for
LED lighting products. Even potential customers that are inclined to adopt energy-efficient lighting technology may
defer investment as LED lighting products continue to experience rapid technological advances. Any of the foregoing
could adversely impact our results of operations and limit our market opportunities.

In addition, we will need to keep pace with rapid changes in LED technology, changing customer requirements, new
product introductions by competitors and evolving industry standards, any of which could render our existing products
obsolete if we fail to respond in a timely manner. Development of new products incorporating advanced technology is
a complex process subject to numerous uncertainties. We have previously experienced, and could in the future
experience, delays in the introduction of new products. We could also devote substantial resources to the development
of new technologies or products that are ultimately not successful.
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If effective new sources of light other than LEDs are discovered, our current products and technologies could become
less competitive or obsolete. If others develop innovative proprietary lighting technology that is superior to ours, or if
we fail to accurately anticipate technology and market trends, respond on a timely basis with our own development of
new products and enhancements to existing products, and achieve broad market acceptance of these products and
enhancements, our competitive position may be harmed and we may not achieve sufficient growth in our net sales to
attain or sustain profitability.
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If we are not able to compete effectively against companies with greater resources, our prospects for future success
will be jeopardized.

The lighting industry is highly competitive. In the high-performance lighting markets in which we sell our advanced
lighting systems, our products compete with lighting products utilizing traditional lighting technology provided by
many vendors. In the sales of military products, we compete with a small number of qualified military lighting lamp
and fixture suppliers, who in the future might also provide LED lighting products. In certain commercial applications,
we complete with LED systems produced by large lighting companies such as Royal Philips, CREE, Inc., Osram
Sylvania, and GE, Inc. Some of these competitors offer products with performance characteristics similar to those of
our products. Many of our competitors are larger, more established companies with greater resources to devote to
research and development, manufacturing and marketing, as well as greater brand recognition. In addition, the
relatively low barriers to entry into the lighting industry and the limited proprietary nature of many lighting products
also permit new competitors to enter the industry easily.

In each of our markets, we also anticipate the possibility that LED manufacturers, including those that currently
supply us with LEDs, may seek to compete with us. Our competitors’ lighting technologies and products may be more
readily accepted by customers than our products will be. Moreover, if one or more of our competitors or suppliers
were to merge, the change in the competitive landscape could adversely affect our competitive position. Additionally,
to the extent that competition in our markets intensifies, we may be required to reduce our prices in order to remain
competitive. If we do not compete effectively, or if we reduce our prices without making commensurate reductions in
our costs, our net sales, margins, and profitability and our future prospects for success may be harmed.

If we are unable to obtain and adequately protect our intellectual property rights, our ability to commercialize our
products could be substantially limited.

We consider our technology and processes proprietary. If we are not able to adequately protect or enforce the
proprietary aspects of our technology, competitors may utilize our proprietary technology. As a result, our business,
financial condition, and results of operations could be adversely affected. We protect our technology through a
combination of patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws, employee and third-party nondisclosure
agreements, and similar means. Despite our efforts, other parties may attempt to disclose, obtain, or use our
technologies. Our competitors may also be able to independently develop products that are substantially equivalent or
superior to our products or slightly modify our products. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect
our proprietary rights as fully as do the laws of the United States. As a result, we may not be able to protect our
proprietary rights adequately in the United States or abroad. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that we will be
issued patents for which we have applied or obtain additional patents, or that we will be able to obtain licenses to
patents or other intellectual property rights of third parties that we may need to support our business in the future. The
inability to obtain certain patents or rights to third-party patents and other intellectual property rights in the future
could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our industry is characterized by vigorous protection and pursuit of intellectual property rights and positions, which
may result in protracted and expensive litigation. We have engaged in litigation in the past and litigation may be
necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity and scope of the
proprietary rights of others. Litigation may also be necessary to defend against claims of infringement or invalidity by
others. Additionally, we could be required to defend against individuals and groups who have been purchasing
intellectual property assets for the sole purpose of making claims of infringement and attempting to extract settlements
from companies like ours. Litigation could delay development or sales efforts and an adverse outcome in litigation or
any similar proceedings could subject us to significant liabilities, require us to license disputed rights from others or
require us to cease marketing or using certain products or technologies. We may not be able to obtain any licenses on
acceptable terms, if at all, and may attempt to redesign those products that contain allegedly infringing intellectual
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property, which may not be possible. We also may have to indemnify certain customers if it is determined that we
have infringed upon or misappropriated another party’s intellectual property. The costs of addressing any intellectual
property litigation claim, including legal fees and expenses and the diversion of management resources, regardless of
whether the claim is valid, could be significant and could materially harm our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.
If critical components and finished products that we currently purchase from a small number of third-party suppliers
become unavailable or increase in price, or if our suppliers fail to meet our requirements for quality, quantity and
timeliness, our revenue and reputation in the marketplace could be harmed, which would damage our business.

In an effort to reduce manufacturing costs, we have outsourced the production of certain parts and components, as
well as finished goods in our product lines, to a small number of vendors in various locations throughout the world,
primarily in the United States and China. While we believe alternative sources for these components and products are
available, we have selected these particular suppliers based on their ability to consistently provide the best quality
product at the most cost
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effective price, to meet our specifications, and to deliver within scheduled time frames. If our suppliers fail to perform
their obligations in a timely manner or at satisfactory quality levels, we may suffer lost sales, reductions in revenue
and damage to our reputation in the market, all of which would adversely affect our business. We may be vulnerable
to unanticipated price increases and payment term changes. Significant increases in the prices of sourced components
and products could cause our product prices to increase, which may reduce demand for our products or make us more
susceptible to competition. Furthermore, in the event that we are unable to pass along increases in operating costs to
our customers, margins and profitability may be adversely affected. Accordingly, the loss of all or one of these
suppliers could have a material adverse effect on our operations until such time as an alternative supplier could be
found.

Additionally, consolidation in the lighting industry could result in one or more current suppliers being acquired by a
competitor, rendering us unable to continue purchasing key components and products at competitive prices. We may
be subject to various import duties applicable to materials manufactured in foreign countries and may be affected by
various other import and export restrictions, as well as other considerations or developments impacting upon
international trade, including economic or political instability, shipping delays and product quotas. These international
trade factors will, under certain circumstances, have an impact on the cost of components, which will have an impact
on the cost to us of the manufactured product and the wholesale and retail prices of our products.

We depend on independent distributors and sales representatives for a substantial portion of our net sales, and the
failure to manage our relationships with these third parties, or the termination of these relationships, could cause our
net sales to decline and harm our business.

While we are also building our sales force to market and sell directly to end clients, we rely significantly on indirect
sales channels to market and sell our products. Most of our products are sold through third-party independent
distributors and sales representatives. In particular, sales of our products for the U.S. Navy, which have accounted for
a substantial portion of our net sales in recent periods, are made through ADS and LLS, as an independent distributor
and a sales representative, respectively. In addition, these parties provide technical sales support to end-users. Other
than our agreements with ADS and LLS, our current agreements with distributors and sales representatives are
generally non-exclusive, meaning they can sell products of our competitors. Any such agreements we enter into in the
future may be on similar terms. Furthermore, our agreements are generally short-term, and can be cancelled by these
sales channels without significant financial consequence. We cannot control how these distributors or sales
representatives perform and cannot be certain that we or end-users will be satisfied by their performance. If these
distributors and sales representatives significantly change their terms with us, or change their historical pattern of
ordering products from us, there could be a significant impact on our net sales and profits.

Our products could contain defects or they may be installed or operated incorrectly, which could reduce sales of those
products or result in claims against us.

Despite product testing, defects may be found in our existing or future products. This could result in, among other
things, a delay in the recognition or loss of net sales, loss of market share or failure to achieve market acceptance.
These defects could cause us to incur significant warranty, support, and repair costs, divert the attention of our
engineering personnel from our product development efforts, and harm our relationships with our customers. The
occurrence of these problems could result in the delay or loss of market acceptance of our lighting products and would
likely harm our business. Some of our products use line voltages (such as 120 or 240 AC), which involve enhanced
risk of electrical shock, injury or death in the event of a short circuit or other malfunction. Defects, integration issues
or other performance problems in our lighting products could result in personal injury or financial or other damages to
end-users or could damage market acceptance of our products. Our customers and end-users could also seek damages
from us for their losses. A product liability claim brought against us, even if unsuccessful, would likely be time
consuming and costly to defend and the adverse publicity generated by such a claim against us or others in our
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industry could negatively impact our reputation.

 Our business may suffer if we fail to comply with government contracting laws and regulations.

We derive a portion of our revenues from direct and indirect sales to U.S., state, local, and foreign governments and
their respective agencies. In particular, sales of our products to the U.S. Navy or to distributors for the U.S. Navy have
accounted for a substantial portion of our net sales in recent periods. Contracts with government customers are subject
to various procurement laws and regulations, business prerequisites to qualify for such contracts, accounting
procedures, intellectual property process, and contract provisions relating to their formation, administration and
performance, which may provide for various rights and remedies in favor of the governments that are not typically
applicable to or found in commercial contracts. Failure to comply with these laws, regulations, or provisions in our
government contracts could result in litigation, the imposition of various civil and criminal penalties, termination of
contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, or suspension from future government contracting. If our
government contracts are terminated, if we are suspended from government work, or if our

12

Edgar Filing: ENERGY FOCUS, INC/DE - Form 10-K

25



ability to compete for new contracts is adversely affected, our business could suffer due to, among other factors, lost
sales, the costs of any government action or penalties, damages to our reputation and the inability to recover our
investment in developing and marketing products for military maritime use.
The ability to use our net operating loss carryforwards and certain other tax attributes may be limited.

We have significant U.S. net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards (the “Tax Attributes”). Under federal tax laws,
we can carry forward and use our Tax Attributes to reduce our future U.S. taxable income and tax liabilities until such
Tax Attributes expire in accordance with the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “IRC”). Section 382 and
Section 383 of the IRC provide an annual limitation on our ability to utilize our Tax Attributes, as well as certain
built-in-losses, against future U.S. taxable income in the event of a change in ownership, as defined under the IRC.
Share issuances in connection with our past financing transactions or other future changes in our stock ownership,
which may be beyond our control, could result in changes in ownership for purposes of the IRC. Such changes in
ownership could further limit our ability to use our Tax Attributes. Accordingly, any such occurrences could adversely
affect our financial condition, operating results and cash flows.

The cost of compliance with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations could adversely affect our results
of operations or financial condition.

We are subject to a broad range of environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations. These laws and regulations
impose increasingly stringent environmental, health, and safety protection standards and permit requirements
regarding, among other things, air emissions, wastewater storage, treatment, and discharges, the use and handling of
hazardous or toxic materials, waste disposal practices, the remediation of environmental contamination, and working
conditions for our employees. Some environmental laws, such as Superfund, the Clean Water Act, and comparable
laws in U.S. states and other jurisdictions world-wide, impose joint and several liability for the cost of environmental
remediation, natural resource damages, third party claims, and other expenses, without regard to the fault or the
legality of the original conduct, on those persons who contributed to the release of a hazardous substance into the
environment. We may also be affected by future laws or regulations, including those imposed in response to energy,
climate change, geopolitical, or similar concerns. These laws may impact the sourcing of raw materials and the
manufacture and distribution of our products and place restrictions and other requirements on the products that we can
sell in certain geographical locations.

We have international operations and are subject to risks associated with operating in international markets.

We outsource the production of certain parts and components, as well as finished goods in certain product lines, to a
small number of vendors in various locations outside of the United States, including China. We also have limited
operations in Taiwan to support our vendor relationships in Asia. Although we do not currently generate significant
sales from customers outside the United States, we are targeting foreign allied navies as a potential opportunity to
generate additional sales of our military products.

International business operations are subject to inherent risks, including, among others:

•difficulty in enforcing agreements and collecting receivables through foreign legal systems;
•unexpected changes in regulatory requirements, tariffs, and other trade barriers or restrictions;
•potentially adverse tax consequences;

• the burdens of compliance with the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, similar anti-bribery laws in other
countries, and a wide variety of laws;

•import and export license requirements and restrictions of the United States and each other country in which we
operate;
•exposure to different legal standards and reduced protection for intellectual property rights in some countries;
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•currency fluctuations and restrictions; and

•political, social, and economic instability, including war and the threat of war, acts of terrorism, pandemics, boycotts,
curtailment of trade, or other business restrictions.

If we do not anticipate and effectively manage these risks, these factors may have a material adverse impact on our
business operations.
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If we are unable to attract or retain qualified personnel, our business and product development efforts could be
harmed.

To a large extent, our future success will depend on the continued contributions of certain employees, such as our
current Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, and President and Chief Operating Officer. We have had
significant turnover in our management team since 2013 and cannot be certain that these and other key employees will
continue in their respective capacities for any period of time, and these employees may be difficult to replace. Our
future success will also depend on our ability to attract and retain qualified technical, sales, marketing, and
management personnel, for whom competition is very intense. As we attempt to rapidly grow our business, it could be
especially difficult to attract and retain sufficient qualified personnel. The loss of, or failure to attract, hire, and retain
any such persons could delay product development cycles, disrupt our operations, increase our costs, or otherwise
harm our business or results of operations.
We believe that certification and compliance issues are critical to adoption of our lighting systems, and failure to
obtain such certification or compliance would harm our business.

We are required to comply with certain legal requirements governing the materials in our products. Although we are
not aware of any efforts to amend any existing legal requirements or implement new legal requirements in a manner
with which we cannot comply, our net sales might be adversely affected if such an amendment or implementation
were to occur.

Moreover, although not legally required to do so, we strive to obtain certification for substantially all our products. In
the United States, we seek certification on substantially all of our products from Underwriters Laboratories (UL®),
Intertek Testing Services (ETL®), or DesignLights Consortium (DLC™). Where appropriate in jurisdictions outside the
United States and Europe, we seek to obtain other similar national or regional certifications for our products. Although
we believe that our broad knowledge and experience with electrical codes and safety standards have facilitated
certification approvals, we cannot ensure that we will be able to obtain any such certifications for our new products or
that, if certification standards are amended, that we will be able to maintain such certifications for our existing
products. Moreover, although we are not aware of any effort to amend any existing certification standard or
implement a new certification standard in a manner that would render us unable to maintain certification for our
existing products or obtain ratification for new products, our net sales might be adversely affected if such an
amendment or implementation were to occur.

As a public reporting company, we are subject to complex regulations concerning corporate governance and public
disclosure that require us to incur significant expenses, divert management resources and expose us to risks of
non-compliance.

We are faced with complicated and evolving laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and
public disclosure. To comply with these requirements and operate as a public company, we incur legal, financial,
accounting and administrative costs and other related expenses. As a smaller reporting company, these expenses may
be significant to our financial results. In addition, due to our limited internal resources, we must devote substantial
management and other resources to compliance efforts. As we attempt to rapidly grow our business, compliance
efforts could become more complex and put additional strain on our resources. Despite our efforts, we cannot
guarantee that we will effectively meet all of the requirements of these laws and regulations. If we fail to comply with
any of the laws, rules and regulations applicable to U.S. public companies or with respect to publicly-traded stock, we
may be subject to regulatory scrutiny, possible sanctions or higher risks of shareholder litigation, all of which could
harm our reputation, lower our stock price or cause us to incur additional expenses.

Any material weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting could, if not remediated, result in material
misstatements in our financial statements.
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As a public company reporting to the Securities and Exchange Commission, we are subject to the reporting
requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, including section 404(a)
that requires that we annually evaluate and report on our systems of internal controls.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework set forth in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission as of December 31, 2014. Based on this evaluation, management
concluded that there was a material weaknesses identified in our internal controls as of December 31, 2014. The
material weaknesses related to a lack of effective controls over revenue recognition. Management developed and
implemented certain controls during 2014 and the first quarter of 2015, which it believes remediated this identified
material weakness, including additional review systems, standardized sales terms and conditions, and education and
training.

If these remedial measures are not effective, or if additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our
internal controls are discovered or occur in the future, our financial statements may contain material misstatements
and we could be
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required to restate our financial results. This could result in a decrease in our stock price, securities litigation, and the
diversion of significant management and financial resources.

In the near future, if we cease to meet the criteria to be considered a "smaller reporting company," we will also
become subject to section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, which requires an auditor attestation of the effectiveness
of our internal controls over financial reporting. This additional requirement will increase our financial, accounting
and administrative costs, and other related expenses, which may be significant to our financial results. In addition, due
to our limited internal resources, further compliance efforts put additional strain on our resources. Despite our efforts,
if our auditors are unable to attest to the effectiveness of our internal controls, we may be subject to regulatory
scrutiny and higher risk of shareholder litigation, which could harm our reputation, lower our stock price or cause us
to incur additional expenses.

We may be subject to legal claims against us or claims by us which could have a significant impact on our resulting
financial performance.

At any given time, we may be subject to litigation related to our products, suppliers, customers, employees,
stockholders, distributors, sales representatives, and sales of our assets, among other things, the disposition of which
may have an adverse effect upon our business, financial condition, or results of operation. The outcome of litigation is
difficult to assess or quantify. Lawsuits can result in the payment of substantial damages by defendants. If we are
required to pay substantial damages and expenses as a result of these or other types of lawsuits our business and
results of operations would be adversely affected. Regardless of whether any claims against us are valid or whether we
are liable, claims may be expensive to defend and may divert time and money away from our operations. Insurance
may not be available at all or in sufficient amounts to cover any liabilities with respect to these or other matters. A
judgment or other liability in excess of our insurance coverage for any claims could adversely affect our business and
the results of our operations.
We rely heavily on information technology in our operations and any material failure, weakness, interruption or
breach of security could prevent us from effectively operating our business, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We rely heavily on our information technology systems, including our enterprise resource planning (“ERP”) software,
across our operations and corporate functions, including for management of our supply chain, payment of obligations,
data warehousing to support analytics, finance systems, accounting systems, and other various processes and
procedures, some of which are handled by third parties. In addition, we recently implemented a new ERP system on a
company-wide basis that can present transitional risks.

Our ability to efficiently and effectively manage our business depends significantly on the reliability and capacity of
these systems. Our business and results of operations may be adversely affected if we experience system usage
problems. The failure of these systems to operate effectively, maintenance problems, system conversions, back-up
failures, problems or lack of resources for upgrading or transitioning to new platforms or damage or interruption from
circumstances beyond our control, including, without limitation, fire, natural disasters, power outages, systems failure,
security breaches, cyber-attacks, viruses or human error could result in, among other things, transaction errors,
processing inefficiencies, loss of data, inability to generate timely SEC reports, loss of sales and customers and reduce
efficiency in our operations. Additionally, we and our customers could suffer financial and reputational harm if
customer or Company proprietary information is compromised by such events. Remediation of such problems could
result in significant unplanned capital investments and any damage or interruption could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Risks associated with an investment in our common stock
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As a “thinly-traded” stock with a relatively small public float, the market price of our common stock is highly volatile
and may decline regardless of our operating performance.

Our common stock is “thinly-traded” and we have a relatively small public float, which increases volatility in the share
price and makes it difficult for investors to buy or sell shares in the public market without materially affecting our
share price. Since our listing on the NASDAQ Capital Market in August 2014, our market price has ranged from a
low of $3.95 to a high of $29.20 and has recently experienced significant volatility. Broad market and industry factors
also may adversely affect the market price of our common stock, regardless of our actual operating performance.
Factors that could cause wide fluctuations in our stock price may include, among other things:

•general economic conditions and trends;

• addition or loss of significant customers and the timing of significant customer
purchases;
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•actual or anticipated variations in our financial condition and operating results;
•market expectations following period of rapid growth;
•our ability to effectively manage our growth and the significance and timing of associated expenses;
•overall conditions or trends in our industry;
•the terms and amount of any additional financing that we may obtain, if any;
•unfavorable publicity;
•additions or departures of key personnel;

•changes in the estimates of our operating results or changes in recommendations by any securities or industry analysts
that elect to follow our common stock; and
•sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders, including sales by our directors and officers.
Because our common stock is thinly-traded, investors seeking to buy or sell a certain quantity of our shares in the
public market may be unable to do so within one or more trading days and it may be difficult for stockholders to sell
all of their shares in the market at any given time at prevailing prices. Any attempts to buy or sell a significant
quantity of our shares could materially affect our share price. In addition, because our common stock is thinly-traded
and we have a relatively small public float, the market price of our shares may be disproportionately affected by any
news, commentary or rumors regarding us or our industry, regardless of the source or veracity, which could also result
in increased volatility.

In addition, in the past, following periods of volatility in the market price of a company’s securities, securities litigation
has often been instituted against these companies. Volatility in the market price of our shares could also increase the
likelihood of regulatory scrutiny. Securities litigation, if instituted against us, or any regulatory inquiries or actions
that we face could result in substantial costs, diversion of our management’s attention and resources and unfavorable
publicity, regardless of the merits of any claims made against us or the ultimate outcome of any such litigation or
action.

We could issue additional shares of common stock without stockholder approval.

We are authorized to issue 30,000,000 shares of common stock, of which 11,648,978 shares were issued and
outstanding as of December 31, 2015. Our Board of Directors has the authority, without action or vote of our
stockholders, to issue authorized but unissued shares subject to the rules of the NASDAQ Capital Market. In addition,
in order to raise capital or acquire businesses in the future, we may need to issue securities that are convertible or
exchangeable for shares of our common stock. Any such issuances could be made at a price that reflects a discount to
the then-current trading price of our common stock. These issuances could be dilutive to our existing stockholders and
cause the market price of our common stock to decline.

If securities analysts do not publish research or reports about our business, or if they downgrade our stock, the price of
our stock could decline.

The trading market for our common stock is likely to be influenced by any research and reports that securities or
industry analysts publish about us or our business. If one or more of these analysts downgrades our stock or publish
unfavorable research about our business, our stock price would likely decline. There are currently a limited number of
analysts covering us, which could increase the influence of particular analysts or reports. If one or more of these
analysts ceases coverage of us or fails to publish reports on us regularly, demand for our stock could decrease and
cause our stock price and trading volume to decline. Any of these effects could be especially significant because our
common stock is “thinly-traded” and we have a relatively small public float.

Our failure to comply with the continued listing requirements of the NASDAQ Capital Market could adversely affect
the price of our common stock and its liquidity.
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We must comply with NASDAQ’s continued listing requirements related to, among other things, stockholders’ equity,
market value, minimum bid price, and corporate governance in order to remain listed on the NASDAQ Capital
Market. Although we expect to meet the continued listing requirements, there can be no assurance we will continue to
do so in the future. If we do not remain compliant with these continued listing requirements, we could be delisted. If
we were delisted, it would be likely to have a negative impact on our stock price and liquidity. The delisting of our
common stock could also deter broker-dealers from making a market in or otherwise generating interest in or
recommending our common stock, and would adversely affect our ability to attract investors in our common stock.
Furthermore, our ability to raise additional capital would be impaired. As a result of these factors, the value of the
common stock could decline significantly.

We have never paid dividends on our common stock, and we do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the
foreseeable future.
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We have never declared or paid dividends on our common stock, nor do we anticipate paying any cash dividends for
the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to finance the operations and expansion of
our business. Any future determination to pay cash dividends will be at the discretion of our Board of Directors and
will be dependent upon the earnings, financial condition, operating results, capital requirements and other factors as
deemed necessary by our Board of Directors.

The elimination of monetary liability against our directors under Delaware law and the existence of indemnification
rights held by our directors, officers and employees may result in substantial expenditures by the Company and may
discourage lawsuits against our directors, officers, and employees.

Our Certificate of Incorporation eliminates the personal liability of our directors to our Company and our stockholders
for damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director to the extent permissible under Delaware law. Further, our
Bylaws provide that we are obligated to indemnify any of our directors or officers to the fullest extent authorized by
Delaware law and, subject to certain conditions, advance the expenses incurred by any director or officer in defending
any action, suit or proceeding prior to its final disposition. Those indemnification obligations could result in the
Company incurring substantial expenditures to cover the cost of settlement or damage awards against our directors or
officers, which we may be unable to recoup. These provisions and resultant costs may also discourage us from
bringing a lawsuit against any of our current or former directors or officers for breaches of their fiduciary duties, and
may similarly discourage the filing of derivative litigation by our stockholders against our directors and officers even
though such actions, if successful, might otherwise benefit us or our stockholders.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our principal executive offices and our manufacturing facility are located in an approximately 75,000 square foot
facility in Solon, Ohio, under a lease agreement expiring on April 30, 2017.

We also have leased sales offices in Arlington, Virginia and New York, New York. Additionally, we have leased
product development offices in Rochester, Minnesota and Taipei City, Taiwan.

We believe the aforementioned facilities are adequate to support our current and anticipated operations.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

From time to time, we may be involved in legal proceedings arising from the normal course of business. See Note 15,
"Legal Matters," included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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Executive officers of the registrant

The following is the name, age, and present position of each of our current executive officers, as well as all prior
positions held by each of them during the last five years and when each of them was first elected or appointed as an
executive officer:

Name Age Current position and business experience

James Tu 47 Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer – May 2013 to present
Non-Executive Chairman of the Board of Directors – December 2012 to April 2013
Mr. Tu is the Founder, Chief Executive Officer, and Chief Investment Officer of 5
Elements Global Advisors, an investment advisory and management company focusing
on investing in clean energy companies. Additionally, he is Co-Founder and was
Managing Partner of Communal International Ltd., a British Virgin Islands company
dedicated to assisting clean energy solutions companies gain access to global marketing,
manufacturing, and financing resources until May 2013. Previously he was the Director
of Investment Management of Gerstein Fisher & Associates, and an equity analyst at
Dolphin Asset Management Corporation.

Eric Hilliard 48 President and Chief Operating Officer – October 2013 to present
Vice President and Chief Operating Officer – November 2006 to October 2013
Prior to joining Energy Focus, Mr. Hilliard served in Business and Operations
Management at Saint Gobain's Aerospace Flight Structures Division from 2002 to 2006
overseeing the global sales and operations for composite flight structure components to
customers such as Embraer, Gulfstream and EADS. Other career assignments include
Goodrich Aerospace, Chemical Leaman, and the HJ Heinz Company serving in
operational and international roles throughout his career.

Marcia J. Miller 53 Chief Financial Officer – July 2015 to present 
Interim Chief Financial Officer and Secretary - February 2015 to July 2015
Corporate Controller – July 2013 to February 2015
Assistant Corporate Controller – March 2012 to July 2013
Prior to joining Energy Focus, Ms. Miller served as Manager of Financial Planning and
Analysis from August 2011 to March 2012, for Rockwell Automation; a company
dedicated to industrial automation and control solutions; as Controller of Wingspan Care
Group, a not-for-profit parent company of entities providing behavior healthcare to
children, from October 2009 to August 2011; and as Assistant Controller for Keithley
Instruments, Inc., a manufacturer of electronic test and measurement equipment. Ms.
Miller began her career with Ernst & Young, formerly Arthur Young, and joined
Keithley Instruments in 1989. She is a Certified Public Accountant and a member of the
Ohio Society of Certified Public Accountants and the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

On August 7, 2014, our common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Capital Market (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol
“EFOI.” Prior to that time, our stock traded on the OTCQB Marketplace (“OTCQB”) beginning on January 15, 2013.

The following table sets forth the high and low market sales prices per share for our common stock for the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014 as reported by NASDAQ and OTCQB after giving effect to the one-for-ten reverse
stock split of our common stock effected on July 16, 2014:

High Low

First quarter 2015 $ 5.75 $ 3.95
Second quarter 2015 8.82 4.81
Third quarter 2015 29.20 8.48
Fourth quarter 2015 20.00 11.03

First quarter 2014 $ 7.50 $ 3.85
Second quarter 2014 7.39 5.20
Third quarter 2014 10.71 4.12
Fourth quarter 2014 8.20 4.69

Stockholders

There were approximately 105 holders of record of our common stock as of March 1, 2016, however, a large number
of our stockholders hold their stock in “street name” in brokerage accounts. Therefore, they do not appear on the
stockholder list maintained by our transfer agent.

Dividends

We have not declared or paid any cash dividends, and do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the near future.

Securities authorized for issuance under equity compensation plans

The following table details information regarding our existing equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2015:

Equity Compensation Plan Information
Plan category Number of

securities to be
issued upon
exercise of
outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding
options, warrants
and rights

Number of
securities
remaining
available for
future issuance
under equity
compensation
plans (excluding
securities
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reflected in
column (a))

Equity compensation plans approved by security holders 602,207 $8.58 1,260,704 (1)
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(1)
Includes 465,535 shares available for issuance under the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan and 795,169 shares
available for issuance under our 2014 Stock Incentive Plan, which may be issued in the form of options, restricted
stock, restricted stock units, and other equity-based awards.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The Selected Consolidated Financial Data set forth below have been derived from our financial statements. It should
be read in conjunction with the information appearing under the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” included in Item 7 of this report and the Consolidated Financial
Statements and related notes found in Item 8 of this report.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011

OPERATING SUMMARY
Net sales $64,403 $22,700 $9,423 $10,015 $7,216
Gross profit 29,292 7,778 2,078 1,476 773
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 9,471 (4,246 ) (5,907 ) (3,767 ) (3,626 )
Net (loss) income from discontinued
operations (691 ) (1,599 ) 3,546 (1,942 ) (2,429 )

Net income (loss) 8,780 (5,845 ) (2,361 ) (5,709 ) (6,055 )
Net income (loss) per share - basic:
From continuing operations $0.91 $(0.55 ) $(1.24 ) $(0.91 ) $(1.47 )
From discontinued operations (0.07 ) (0.20 ) 0.74 (0.47 ) (0.98 )
Total 0.84 (0.75 ) (0.50 ) (1.38 ) (2.45 )
Net income (loss) per share - diluted:
From continuing operations $0.88 $(0.55 ) $(1.24 ) $(0.91 ) $(1.47 )
From discontinued operations (0.06 ) (0.20 ) 0.74 (0.47 ) (0.98 )
Total 0.82 (0.75 ) (0.50 ) (1.38 ) (2.45 )
Shares used in net income (loss) per share
calculation:
Basic 10,413 7,816 4,779 4,132 2,467
Diluted 10,752 7,816 4,779 4,132 2,467
FINANCIAL POSITION SUMMARY
Total assets $55,702 $19,496 $12,808 $14,353 $13,778
Cash and cash equivalents 34,640 7,435 1,890 788 1,454
Credit line borrowings — 453 — 1,590 —
Current maturities of long-term debt — — 59 756 855
Long-term debt, net of current maturities — 70 4,011 1,793 955
Stockholders' equity 45,320 9,773 2,924 825 1,468
Common shares outstanding 11,649 9,424 5,142 4,470 2,491
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in
conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements (“financial statements”) and related notes thereto, included in
Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Overview

Energy Focus, Inc. and its subsidiaries engage in the design, development, manufacturing, marketing, and installation
of energy-efficient lighting systems. We operate in a single industry segment, developing and selling our
energy-efficient light-emitting diode ("LED") lighting products into the military maritime market, and general
commercial and industrial markets. Recently, we have aligned our resources and focused our efforts on the sale of our
LED lighting products, in particular our military and commercial tubular LED ("TLED") lines of products, into
targeted vertical markets. Our goal is to become a leader in the LED lighting retrofit market by replacing fluorescent
lamps in general purpose and high-intensity discharge ("HID") lighting in low-bay and high-bay applications with our
innovative, high-quality TLED products.

In order to focus on this business opportunity, we have recently exited non-core businesses. In 2013, we sold our pool
lighting products business. During 2014, we shifted our focus away from the turnkey solutions business operated by
our subsidiary, Energy Focus LED Solutions, LLC (“EFLS”), which had historically incurred lower gross margins. We
completed all outstanding solutions-based projects in the first quarter of 2015, are no longer accepting new projects,
and, as of September 30, 2015, had fully exited the solutions business. In August 2015, we exited our United
Kingdom business through the sale of Crescent Lighting Limited ("CLL"), our wholly-owned subsidiary. As a result
of exiting the turnkey solutions and CLL businesses, we have eliminated all net sales and expenses associated with
both businesses from the Consolidated Statements of Operations and have reported the net income (loss) as
discontinued operations. Please refer to Note 3, "Discontinued Operations," for more information on our disposition of
these businesses.

During 2015, a substantial portion of our sales continued to be for military maritime products for the U.S. Navy. We
had significant growth in our commercial sales versus the prior year, but still remain in the early stages of our efforts
to diversify our customer base. We also continued to invest in our direct sales force and marketing personnel, and the
other talent and infrastructure necessary to support the increasing scale of our operations across a variety of other
functions. As a result, our financial results continue to be subject to fluctuations in the timing and magnitude of our
military and maritime product sales and the impact of our growth initiatives, since we may dedicate significant
resources to a targeted customer or industry before we achieve meaningful results or are able to effectively evaluate
our success.

Results of operations

The following table sets forth the percentage of net sales represented by certain items reflected on our Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the following periods:
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2015 2014 2013

Net sales 100.0  % 100.0  % 100.0  %
Cost of sales 54.5 65.7 77.9
Gross profit 45.5 34.3 22.1

Operating expenses:
Product development 4.4 4.5 6.3
Selling, general, and administrative 26.1 34.5 68.3
Loss on impairment — — 6.5
Change in estimate of contingent liabilities — — 0.1
Restructuring — — 0.8
Total operating expenses 30.5 39.0 82.0
Income (loss) from operations 15.0 (4.7 ) (59.9 )

Other (income) expense:
Settlement of acquisition obligations — — (9.5 )
Interest expense 0.1 11.9 8.9
Other (income) expenses (0.1 ) 2.1 3.3
Income (loss) from continuing operations before
income taxes 15.0 (18.7 ) (62.6 )

Provision for income taxes 0.2 — —
Net income (loss) from continuing operations 14.8 (18.7 ) (62.6 )

Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations (0.3 ) (6.9 ) (3.9 )
(Loss) gain on sale of discontinued operations (0.8 ) (0.1 ) 41.5
(Loss) income from discontinued operations before
income taxes (1.1 ) (7.0 ) 37.6

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes — — —
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (1.1 ) (7.0 ) 37.6

Net income (loss) 13.7  % (25.7 )% (25.0 )%
Net sales

A further breakdown of our net sales by product line is as follows (in thousands):

2015 2014 2013

Commercial $14,156 $5,712 $3,703
Military maritime 50,128 16,913 3,678
R&D Services 119 75 2,042
Total net sales $64,403 $22,700 $9,423

Net sales of $64.4 million in 2015 increased 183.7 percent compared to 2014. Commercial sales increased 147.8
percent as we continued to penetrate our targeted vertical markets of K-12 schools, industrial manufacturers, national
retailers, and hospitals. Military maritime sales increased 196.4 percent as a result of continued high-volume sales to
distributors for the U.S. Navy.
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R&D services sales increased 58.7 percent as we worked to complete existing research contracts and grants to focus
our resources exclusively on projects and contracts that support LED technologies.

Net sales of $22.7 million in 2014 increased 140.9 percent in comparison to $9.4 million in 2013, primarily due to a
$13.2 million increase in military maritime sales as a result of high-volume sales to a distributor for the U.S. Navy.
Commercial sales increased $2.0 million, or 54.3 percent, in 2014 compared to 2013, as we built our pipeline and
began to penetrate our targeted commercial and industrial markets. The increase in commercial sales was offset by a
decrease of $2.0 million in R&D services, as we shifted our focus away from research contracts and grants.

International sales

With the sale of CLL, our subsidiary in the United Kingdom, we no longer generate significant sales from customers
outside the United States. International net sales accounted for less than 1.0 percent of net sales in 2015 and in 2014,
respectively. International net sales accounted for approximately 1.4 percent of net sales in 2013. The effect of
changes in currency exchange rates was not material in 2015, 2014, or 2013, respectively.

Gross profit

Gross profit was $29.3 million, or 45.5 percent of net sales in 2015, compared to $7.8 million, or 34.3 percent of net
sales in 2014. The increase resulted from our higher sales volume, engaging new suppliers to lower our product costs
at increased sales volumes, performing value analysis/engineering processes, and our continued development of
operating efficiencies.
Gross profit in 2014 increased $5.7 million over the gross profit of $2.1 million in 2013. The increase resulted from
higher net sales due to a higher mix of commercial and military maritime products sales, compared to R&D services
sales, which carry low to no gross margins. Additionally, gross margins on our products improved 12.2 percentage
points as a result of continuous development of efficiencies, improvements in our supply chain, and building our
economies of scale from sales volume increases.

Operating expenses

Product development

Product development expenses include salaries, contractor and consulting fees, legal fees, supplies and materials, as
well as overhead items, such as depreciation and facilities costs. Product development costs are expensed as they are
incurred.

Total government reimbursements are the combination of revenues and credits from government contracts.

Total gross and net product development spending, including credits from government contracts, is shown in the
following table (in thousands):

For the year ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Total gross product development expenses $3,005 $1,727 $3,480
Cost recovery through cost of sales (25 ) (54 ) (1,937 )
Cost recovery and other credits (170 ) (643 ) (948 )
Net product development expense $2,810 $1,030 $595
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Gross product development expenses were $3.0 million in 2015, a 74.0 percent increase compared to $1.7 million in
2014. The increase resulted from higher outside testing and legal fees of approximately $541 thousand related to our
proprietary commercial Intellitube® product line, and higher salaries and related benefits of approximately $554
thousand due to hiring additional product engineers as we continue to dedicate resources toward the development of
our LED lighting technology products in the United States and Taiwan. Gross product development expenses in 2014
decreased 50.4 percent compared to $3.5 million in 2013. The decrease resulted from focusing our resources
exclusively on projects and contracts that support LED technologies.
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Selling, general, and administrative

Selling, general, and administrative expenses were $16.8 million, or 26.1 percent of net sales in 2015, compared to
$7.8 million, or 34.5 percent of net sales in 2014. The dollar increase resulted from incurring higher salaries and
related benefits of approximately $2.0 million and higher recruiting fees of $548 thousand as we essentially doubled
our sales force in 2015 compared to 2014, higher consulting services of approximately $1.4 million as we seek to
grow our business, higher commissions and bonus incentives of approximately $1.7 million related to higher sales and
earnings, higher severance costs of $502 thousand, higher trade show and other marketing costs of approximately
$478 thousand to support our continued growth, and higher legal and professional fees of approximately $463
thousand.

Selling, general, and administrative expenses in 2014 increased 21.8 percent from $6.4 million 2013. The dollar
increase resulted from higher salaries and related benefits, higher stock-based compensation, higher incentive bonuses
and commissions, and higher recruiting costs due primarily to building our direct sales force. This was partially offset
by lower severance charges, lower amortization expense, and lower project marketing costs.

Loss on impairment

Due to the sale of our pool products business in November 2013 and the closing of our facilities in Pleasanton,
California, we performed an evaluation of property and equipment located in California. In performing this review, we
sought a buyer for the assets which we no longer had use, and recorded an impairment loss of $608 thousand. The
impairment loss represented the difference between the fair value and the carrying value of the asset group. These
assets were subsequently sold in 2014 for $130 thousand; the carrying value of the assets after the impairment charge.

Change in estimate of contingent liabilities

In connection with the acquisition of EFLS in December 2009, we recorded a performance-related contingent
obligation related to a 2.5 percent payout payable over 42 months commencing January 1, 2010. The payout was
based on the fair value of projected annual billings of the acquired business. We accrued for this contingent liability at
its estimated fair value at the time of the acquisition. As a provision of the settlement agreement between us and the
former owners of EFLS, a net receivable due of $78 thousand was forgiven in June 2013. Additionally, we recognized
a $66 thousand favorable adjustment related to the change in the estimate of the performance-related contingent
obligation, resulting in a net expense of $12 thousand charged to operations in 2013. See Note 10, "Commitments and
Contingencies," included in Item 8 for further information.

Restructuring

During the third quarter of 2013, we relocated our manufacturing operations from a contract manufacturing facility
located in Mexico to our facilities located in Pleasanton, California and Solon, Ohio. The Consolidated Statements of
Operations include $80 thousand of “Restructuring” costs for severance paid to Mexican contract employees as required
by the production share agreement, as amended, between us and the contract manufacturer. See Note 8,
"Restructuring," for more information on these charges.

As a result of the sale of the pool products business, we relocated our manufacturing operations in Pleasanton,
California to Solon, Ohio. This activity was completed by March 2014, and the cost was negligible.

Other income (expense)

Settlement of acquisition obligations
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As a provision of the settlement agreement between us and the former owners of EFLS, our obligation to pay a $500
thousand special fee and a $500 thousand convertible promissory note including interest of $92 thousand were
cancelled in their entirety in exchange for a $200 thousand payment. We recognized a net gain of $892 thousand
related to these items in June 2013. See Note 9, "Settlement of Acquisition Obligations," included in Item 8 for further
information.

Interest expense

Interest expense was $85 thousand, $2.7 million, and $840 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014,
and 2013, respectively. Interest expense in 2014 included a $2.3 million non-cash charge to write-off the remaining
unamortized discount associated with the conversion of convertible notes that were issued in 2012 and 2013, as well
as $154 thousand of additional
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interest that we paid by September 30, 2014. Interest expense includes amortization of debt discounts, interest on our
line of credit facility and any other fees related to the line of credit agreement, and interest expense for outstanding
borrowings.

Other expenses

We recognized other income of $53 thousand in 2015, compared to other expenses of $466 thousand in 2014. The
expense in 2014 was primarily a result of the write-off of loan origination costs in connection with the convertible
notes, which occurred in March 2014. Other expenses in 2014 increased $158 thousand compared to other expense of
$308 thousand in 2013 primarily due to the write-off of loan origination costs in 2014.

Income taxes

For the year ended December 31, 2015, our effective tax rate was 1.5 percent. Our effective tax rate was lower than
the statutory tax rate due primarily due to a decrease in the valuation allowance as a result of the utilization of net
operating loss carry-forwards. We utilized $6.2 million of our federal net operating loss carry-forward in 2015.

We had a full valuation allowance recorded against our United States deferred tax assets at December 31, 2015 and
2014, respectively. We had no net deferred liabilities at December 31, 2015 or 2014. There was no federal tax
expenses for the United States operations in 2014 and 2013 due to increase to the valuation allowance. In 2015, we
recognized federal tax expense as a result of the alternative minimum tax.

Deferred income tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion of
the deferred income tax assets will not be realized. In considering the need for a valuation allowance, we assess all
evidence, both positive and negative, available to determine whether all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. Such evidence includes, but is not limited to, recent earnings history, projections of future income or
loss, reversal patterns of existing taxable and deductible temporary differences, and tax planning strategies. We will
continue to evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on a quarterly basis.
At December 31, 2015, we had net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $69.1 million for federal, state, and
local income tax purposes. However, due to changes in our capital structure, approximately $14.8 million of this
amount is available after the application of IRC Section 382 limitations. As a result of this limitation, in 2016, we only
expect to have approximately $6.0 million of the net operating loss carry-forward available for use. If not utilized,
these carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2021 for federal purposes and have begun to expire for state and local
purposes. Please refer to Note 12, "Income Taxes," included in Item 8 for further information.

Net income (loss) from continuing operations

Net income from continuing operations was $9.5 million in 2015, an increase of $13.7 million compared to a net loss
of $4.2 million in 2014. Higher net sales and gross margins, as well as continued operational improvements resulted in
the improved financial results. Net loss from continuing operations decreased $1.7 million in 2014 compared to a net
loss of $5.9 million in 2013. The decrease was a result of increased sales, specifically, product sales to the military
maritime market, as well as improved gross profit margins and the one-time charges of $2.4 million noted above.
Excluding those charges, net loss from continuing operations in 2014 would have decreased compared to 2013 by $4.1
million.

Discontinued operations

EFLS
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As part of the strategy to align our resources with developing and selling our energy-efficient LED products into the
commercial and military maritime markets, we completed the exit of our turnkey solutions business operated by our
EFLS subsidiary, during the third quarter of 2015. During 2014, we shifted our focus away from the turnkey solutions
business and we stopped accepting new projects and completed all outstanding solutions-based projects in the first
quarter of 2015. Following the completion of these projects, a remaining warranty liability existed for the replacement
of potential defective products that were installed as a part of certain solutions-based jobs. The period for potential
warranty replacement lasted one year from the time of job commencement. As of September 30, 2015, the exit of our
turnkey solutions business was complete. Accordingly, the operating results related to EFLS have been included as
discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for all periods presented. There were no assets
disposed as a result of the disposition, and we did not recognize a gain or loss on disposal or record an income tax
expense or benefit. We do not anticipate any significant continuing involvement related to this discontinued operation.
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CLL

In August 2015, we sold our wholly-owned United Kingdom subsidiary, CLL. The sale was for nominal consideration
under the terms of the agreement. As a result of the transaction and the elimination of this foreign subsidiary
consolidated under the equity method of accounting, we recorded a one-time loss of $44 thousand, which included a
$469 thousand accumulated other comprehensive income reclassification adjustment for foreign currency translation
adjustments. The loss was recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations under the caption "Loss on disposal
of discontinued operations." We do not anticipate any significant continuing involvement related to this discontinued
operation.

Pool Products Business

In November 2013, we sold our pool products business. In connection with the sale, we eliminated all net sales and
expenses associated with this business from the Consolidated Statements of Operations and have reported the net
(loss) income from those activities as “Discontinued operations.”

Revenues from discontinued operations in 2015, 2014, and 2013 were $1.1 million, $6.3 million, and $16.6 million,
respectively. See Note 3, "Discontinued Operations," included in Item 8 of this Annual Report for more information.

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) includes the results from continuing operations, as well as the results from discontinued operations.
Net income was $8.8 million in 2015, an increase of $14.6 million compared to a net loss of $5.8 million in 2014. Net
loss increased by $3.5 million in 2014 compared to a net loss of $2.4 million in 2013, primarily due to the one-time
charges of $2.4 million noted above.

Liquidity and capital resources

While we generated net income of $8.8 million in 2015, we have incurred substantial losses in the past, and as of
December 31, 2015, we had an accumulated deficit of $80.1 million. In the third quarter of 2015, we raised
approximately $23.6 million, net of fees, from a follow-on public offering of 1,500,000 shares of our common stock.
We also raised approximately $18 million between 2012 and 2014 through the issuance of common stock and debt,
including $5.15 million in cash, net of related expenses, from a public offering and sale of our common stock in
August 2014. Additionally, we received $4.8 million in cash, net of related expenses, through the sale of our pool
products business in 2013. While we were profitable in 2015, in order for us to continue to grow our business
profitably, we will need to continue executing our marketing and sales plans for our energy-efficient LED lighting
products to expand our customer base, and develop new technologies into sustainable product lines.

There is a risk that our business may not be as successful as we envision as we work to expand our customer base and
grow net sales from commercial clients in our targeted vertical markets. Additionally, there is no guarantee that the
U.S. Navy will continue on its current pace with the adoption of our LED lighting products for its fighting fleet.

We terminated our revolving credit facility effective December 31, 2015, and are not actively pursuing securing a new
line of credit at this time. There can be no assurance that we will generate sufficient cash flows to sustain and grow
our operations or, if necessary, obtain funding on acceptable terms or in a timely fashion or at all. As such, we may
continue to review and pursue selected external funding sources to execute these objectives including, but not limited
to, the following:
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•obtain financing from traditional or non-traditional investment capital organizations or individuals; and
•obtain funding from the sale of our common stock or other equity or debt instruments. 

Obtaining financing through the above-mentioned mechanisms contains risks, including:

• additional equity financing may not be available to us on satisfactory terms and any equity that we are able to
issue could lead to dilution of stockholder value for current stockholders;

•
loans or other debt instruments may have terms and/or conditions, such as interest rate, restrictive covenants and
control or revocation provisions, which are not acceptable to management or our Board of Directors or would restrict
our growth opportunities; and

•the current environment in capital markets combined with our capital constraints may prevent us from being able to
obtain adequate debt financing.
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If we fail to generate cash to grow our business, we would need to delay or scale back our business plan, reduce our
operating costs, or reduce our headcount, each of which would have a material adverse effect on our business, future
prospects, and financial condition.

Cash and cash equivalents and debt

At December 31, 2015, our cash and cash equivalents balance was $34.6 million, compared to $7.4 million at
December 31, 2014. The balance at December 31, 2015 included restricted cash of $113 thousand, compared to $105
thousand at December 31, 2014. The restricted cash balance relates to funds to be used exclusively for a research and
development project with the National Shipbuilding Research Program. Additionally, our cash balance at December
31, 2014 included $300 thousand of the purchase price from the sale of our pool products business held in escrow to
secure our obligations of the sale. At December 31, 2015, we offset the escrow amount by the expected costs to settle
the outstanding buyer claims related to the sale of our pool products business. See Note 3, included in Item 8 for
further information.

On September 11, 2015, we announced the pricing of a registered underwritten follow-on offering of shares of our
common stock by us and certain of our stockholders (the "Selling Stockholders"). We sold 1,500,000 shares of our
common stock at a price to the public of $17.00 per share and the Selling Stockholders sold an additional 1,500,000
shares of our common stock on the same terms and conditions.

The offering closed on September 16, 2015 and we received $23.6 million in net proceeds from the transaction, after
giving effect to underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated expenses. We expect to use the net proceeds
from the offering to finance our growth efforts, for working capital, and other general corporate purposes.
On August 6, 2014, we announced the pricing of a public offering to sell 1,175,000 shares of our common stock at a
price to the public of $4.50 per share. The underwriters for the offering were given an option to purchase up to an
additional 176,250 shares at $4.50 per share to cover over allotments. On August 8, 2014, they exercised their option
to purchase the 176,250 additional shares. The offering closed on August 11, 2014. The net proceeds we received
from the offering, after deducting the underwriting discount and offering expenses paid by us, were $5.15 million.

The following is a summary of cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities, as reflected in the
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (in thousands):

2015 2014 2013

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities $4,446 $(163 ) $(6,243 )

Net cash used in investing activities $(2,242 ) $(64 ) $(174 )

Proceeds from warrants exercised $2,503 $— $—
Proceeds from issuances of common stock, net 23,574 5,952 —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and purchases
through employee stock purchase plan 346 58 48

Proceeds from other borrowings — — 6,124
Payments on other borrowings (13 ) (223 ) (304 )
Net borrowings (repayments) on credit line borrowings (453 ) 453 (1,590 )
Net cash provided by financing activities $25,957 $6,240 $4,278

Edgar Filing: ENERGY FOCUS, INC/DE - Form 10-K

50



27

Edgar Filing: ENERGY FOCUS, INC/DE - Form 10-K

51



Cash used in operating activities

Net cash provided by operating activities of $4.4 million in 2015 resulted from the net income, adjusted for non-cash
items, including: depreciation and amortization, stock-based compensation, and an adjustment to the reserves for
slow-moving and obsolete inventories. Operating activities in 2015 also included an increase in accounts receivable of
$7.5 million and an increase in inventories of $2.3 million, partially offset by an increase in accrued liabilities, federal
and state taxes, and product warranties of $1.9 million.

Net cash used in operating activities in 2014 and 2013 was $0.2 million and $6.2 million, respectively. In 2014, the
net cash from operating activities resulted from the net loss, adjusted for non-cash items, including: depreciation and
amortization, stock-based compensation, and an adjustment to the reserves for slow-moving and obsolete inventories.
Operating activities in 2014 also included the one-time charge to write off the remaining unamortized discount
associated with the conversion of convertible notes in March 2014. See Note 7, "Debt," included in Item 8 for more
information on the conversion of the convertible notes. Additionally, we were refunded the $1.0 million cash
collateral we had previously deposited with a surety carrier, as it was determined the collateral was no longer needed.
In 2013, net cash used in operating activities resulted primarily from the net loss from continuing operations of $5.9
million adjusted for non-cash items and changes in operating assets and liabilities totaling $336 thousand.

Cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $2.2 million in 2015, due to spending for the acquisitions of property and
equipment primarily related to the purchase of equipment to be used in the "Buy American" product initiative. We
expect capital expenditures in 2016 to be less than what they were in 2015.

In 2014, net cash used in investing activities of $64 thousand included spending $194 thousand for acquisitions of
property and equipment, partially offset by proceeds of $130 thousand from the sale of equipment that was classified
as held for sale at December 31, 2013.

In 2013, net cash used in investing activities included $174 thousand in spending for acquisitions of property and
equipment.

Cash provided by financing activities

Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2015 was $26.0 million, compared to $6.2
million provided for the year ended December 31, 2014. The net cash provided by financing activities in 2015 was
primarily due to receiving proceeds of $23.6 million from the follow-on stock offering, which closed on September
16, 2015 and receiving proceeds of $2.5 million from the exercises of outstanding warrants in the first quarter of 2015.
In 2014, the net cash provided by financing activities was primarily a result of receiving $5.15 million in net proceeds
from the public offering of our common stock, which closed on August 11, 2014. See Note 11, "Stockholders’ Equity,"
for more information regarding the offering.
Net cash provided by financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2013 was $4.3 million. During 2013, we
raised $6.1 million by issuing unsecured subordinated convertible notes. In 2013, notes having an aggregate principal
amount of $500 thousand were converted into common stock. The remainder of the outstanding notes were converted
by the first quarter of 2014. Please refer to Note 7, "Debt," and Note 11, "Stockholders’ Equity," included in Item 8 for
a discussion of these transactions. We also used $1.6 million in cash, representing a portion of the proceeds we
received from the sale of the pool products business, to pay down the line of credit.

Credit facilities
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On December 22, 2011, we entered into a $4.5 million revolving line of credit (“credit facility”) with Rosenthal &
Rosenthal. The total loan amount available to us under the line of credit was equal to 85 percent of our net, eligible
receivables, plus available inventory (50 percent of the lower of cost or market value of eligible inventory, or $250
thousand, whichever is less). The credit facility was secured by a lien on our domestic assets. The interest rate for
borrowing on accounts receivable was 8.5 percent, on inventories 10 percent, and on overdrafts 13 percent.
Additionally, there was an annual 1 percent facility fee on the entire $4.5 million amount of the credit facility payable
at the beginning of the year. The agreement automatically renewed from year to year after December 31, 2014, unless
we provided the requisite notice to Rosenthal. Additionally, Rosenthal also had the right to terminate the agreement by
providing the 60 days written notice to us. We provided the required advance notice to Rosenthal, and as such, the
facility was terminated in December 2015. We were required to comply with certain financial covenants, measured
quarterly, including, as defined in the agreement: a tangible net worth amount and a working capital amount. We were
in compliance with the financial covenants as of December 31, 2014. Borrowings under the revolving line of
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credit were $453 thousand at December 31, 2014, and are recorded in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a current
liability under the caption “Credit line borrowings.”
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Contractual obligations

The following summarizes our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2015, consisting of minimum lease
payments under operating leases (in thousands):

Year ending December 31, Non-Cancellable Operating
Leases

2016 $515
2017 291
2018 176
2019 131
2020 & thereafter —
Total contractual obligations $1,113

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We had no off-balance sheet arrangements at December 31, 2015 or 2014.
Critical accounting policies and estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States (“U.S. GAAP”) requires that we make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities, the disclosure of contingencies, and the reported amounts of net sales and expenses in the financial
statements. Material differences may result in the amount and timing of net sales and expenses if different judgments
or different estimates were utilized. Critical accounting policies, judgments, and estimates that we believe have the
most significant impact on our financial statements are set forth below:

•revenue recognition,
•allowances for doubtful accounts, returns and discounts,
•impairment of long-lived assets,
•valuation of inventories,
•accounting for income taxes, and
•share-based compensation.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when it is realized or realizable, has been earned, and when all of the following have occurred:

•persuasive evidence or an arrangement exists (e.g., a sales order, a purchase order, or a sales agreement),

•shipment has occurred, with the standard shipping term being F.O.B. ship point, or services provided on a
proportional performance basis or installation have been completed,
•price to the buyer is fixed or determinable, and
•collectability is reasonably assured.

Revenues from our products segment business are generally recognized upon shipping based upon the following:

•all sales made by us to our customer base are non-contingent, meaning that they are not tied to that customer’s resale
of products,
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•standard terms of sale contain shipping terms of F.O.B. ship point, meaning that title and risk of loss is transferred
when shipping occurs, and
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•there are no automatic return provisions that allow the customer to return the product in the event that the product
does not sell within a defined timeframe.

Revenues from research and development contracts are recognized primarily on the percentage-of-completion method
of accounting. Percentage-of-completion is determined by relating the actual cost of the work performed to date to the
current estimated total cost of the respective contracts. When the estimate on a contract indicates a loss, our policy is
to record the entire loss during the accounting period in which it is estimable. Deferred revenue is recorded for the
excess of contract billings over the amount of contract costs and profits. Costs in excess of billings, included in
prepaid and other assets, are recorded for contract costs in excess of contract billings.

We warrant our products against defects or workmanship issues. We set up allowances for estimated returns,
discounts and warranties upon recognition of revenue, and these allowances are adjusted periodically to reflect actual
and anticipated returns, discounts and warranty expenses. These allowances are based on past history and historical
trends, and contractual terms. The distributors’ obligations to us are not contingent upon the resale of our products and
as such do not prohibit revenue recognition.

Allowances for doubtful accounts, returns, and discounts

We establish allowances for doubtful accounts and returns for probable losses based on the customers’ loss history
with us, the financial condition of the customer, the condition of the general economy and the industry as a whole, and
the contractual terms established with the customer. The specific components are as follows:

•Allowance for doubtful accounts for accounts receivable, and
•Allowance for sales returns.
In 2015, the total allowance was $155 thousand, with $48 thousand related to accounts receivable and $107 thousand
related to sales returns. In 2014, the total allowance was $307 thousand, with $32 thousand related to accounts
receivable and $275 thousand related to sales returns. We review these allowance accounts periodically and adjust
them accordingly for current conditions.
Long-lived assets

Property and equipment are stated at cost and include expenditures for additions and major improvements.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred. We use the straight-line method of
depreciation over the estimated useful lives of the related assets (generally two to fifteen years) for financial reporting
purposes. Accelerated methods of depreciation are used for federal income tax purposes. When assets are sold or
otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is
reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. Refer to Note 5, "Property and Equipment," included in Item 8
for additional information.

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that would result in an impairment review primarily include operations
reporting losses, a significant change in the use of an asset, or the planned disposal or sale of the asset. The asset
would be considered impaired when the future net undiscounted cash flows generated by the asset are less than its
carrying value. An impairment loss would be recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value of the asset
exceeds its fair value, as determined by quoted market prices (if available) or the present value of expected future cash
flows. On December 31, 2013, we recorded an impairment charge of $608 thousand for assets that were held for sale
at December 31, 2013. These assets were subsequently sold in the first quarter of 2014 for $130 thousand, which was
the carrying value after the impairment charge.

Valuation of inventories
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We state inventories at the lower of standard cost (which approximates actual cost determined using the
first-in-first-out method) or market. We establish provisions for excess and obsolete inventories after evaluation of
historical sales, current economic trends, forecasted sales, product lifecycles, and current inventory levels. During
2015, 2014, and 2013, we charged $1.5 million, $194 thousand, and $146 thousand, respectively, to cost of sales from
continuing operations for excess and obsolete inventories. Adjustments to our estimates, such as forecasted sales and
expected product lifecycles, could harm our operating results and financial position.

Accounting for income taxes
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As part of the process of preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, we are required to estimate our income tax
liability in each of the jurisdictions in which we do business. This process involves estimating our actual current tax
expense together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as deferred
revenues, for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are
included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets. We then assess the likelihood of the deferred tax assets being recovered
from future taxable income and, to the extent we believe it is more likely than not that the deferred tax assets will not
be recovered, or is unknown, we establish a valuation allowance.
Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and
liabilities, and any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we
have recorded a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets in the United States due to uncertainties
related to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, primarily consisting of certain net operating losses carried
forward. The valuation allowance is based upon our estimates of taxable income by jurisdiction and the period over
which our deferred tax assets will be recoverable. In considering the need for a valuation allowance, we assess all
evidence, both positive and negative, available to determine whether all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized.  Such evidence includes, but is not limited to, recent earnings history, projections of future income or
loss, reversal patterns of existing taxable and deductible temporary differences, and tax planning strategies.  We
continue to evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on a quarterly basis.

As of December 31, 2015, we had net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $69.1 million for federal, state,
and local income tax purposes. However, due to changes in the Company’s capital structure, approximately $14.8
million of this amount is available after the application of IRC Section 382 limitations. As a result of this limitation, in
2016, we only expect to have approximately $6.0 million of the net operating loss carry-forward available for use. If
not utilized, these carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2021 for federal and have begun to expire for state and local
purposes. Please refer to Note 12, "Income Taxes," included in Item 8 for additional information.

Share-based payments

The cost of employee and director stock options and restricted stock units, as well as other share-based compensation
arrangements, is reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements based on the estimated grant date fair value
method under the authoritative guidance. Management applies the Black-Scholes option pricing model to options
issued to employees and directors to determine the fair value of stock options and apply judgment in estimating key
assumptions that are important elements of the model in expense recognition. These elements include the expected life
of the option, the expected stock-price volatility, and expected forfeiture rates. The assumptions used in calculating
the fair value of share-based awards under Black-Scholes represent our best estimates, but these estimates involve
inherent uncertainties and the application of management judgment. Although we believe the assumptions and
estimates we have made are reasonable and appropriate, changes in assumptions could materially impact our reported
financial results. Restricted stock units and stock options issued to non-employees are valued based upon the intrinsic
value of the award. See Note 11, "Stockholders’ Equity," included in Item 8 for additional information.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements 

In November 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update
("ASU") No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, which requires
entities to present deferred tax assets ("DTAs") and deferred tax liabilities ("DTLs") as noncurrent in a classified
balance sheet. This presentation simplifies the current guidance, which requires entities to separately present DTAs
and DTLs as current or noncurrent in a classified balance sheet. The netting of DTAs and DTLs by tax jurisdiction is
still required under the new guidance. The standard is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted. The adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material
impact on our disclosures as a result of the full valuation allowance we have recorded against our DTAs.
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In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-16, Business Combinations (Topic 805). The amendments in this
ASU require that an acquiring company recognize adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the
measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts are determined. Additionally, this ASU
requires an entity to present separately on the face of the income statement or disclose in the notes the portion of the
amount recorded in current period earnings by line item that would have been recorded in previous reporting periods
if the adjustment to the provisional amounts had been recognized as of the acquisition date. To simplify the
accounting for adjustments made to provisional amounts recognized in a business combination, the amendments in
this ASU eliminates the requirement to retrospectively account for those adjustments. This ASU is effective
prospectively for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, including interim periods within those fiscal years.
The Company does not expect the guidance in this ASU to have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements and related disclosures.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330), which requires entities to measure most
inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. This measure simplifies the current guidance, which requires
entities to measure inventory at the lower of cost or market, where market is defined as one of three different
measures, including net realizable value. The ASU does not apply to inventories measured by using either the last-in,
first-out method or the retail inventory method. The ASU is effective prospectively for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted. We are in the process of evaluating the impact of
the standard.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which
requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. The amendments in this
update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015 and interim periods within those fiscal years.
We do not expect the guidance to have a material impact on the Company.

In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-05, Customer's Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement, which provides guidance to customers about whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a
software license. If a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, the customer should account for the
software license element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If a cloud
computing arrangement does not include a software license, the customer should account for the arrangement as a
service contract. The guidance will not change U.S. GAAP for a customer's accounting for service contracts. The
amendments in the update are effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. We do not
expect the guidance to have a material impact on the Company.

In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-01, Income Statement-Extraordinary and Unusual Items (Subtopic
225-20): Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of Extraordinary Items, which
provides guidance on simplifying income statement presentation by eliminating the concept of extraordinary items
from U.S. GAAP. The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2015. A reporting entity may apply the amendments prospectively and
retrospectively to all periods presented in the financial statements. Early adoption is permitted provided that the
guidance is applied from the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. We have evaluated the accounting guidance and
determined that there is no impact of this update to our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-9, Revenue Recognition - Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
which is a comprehensive revenue recognition standard that will supersede nearly all of the existing revenue
recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The standard is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016, and either full retrospective adoption or modified retrospective adoption is permitted. In August
2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customer (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective
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Date. This ASU defers the effective date of ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customer (Topic 606) for all
entities by one year. As a result, all entities will be required to apply the provisions of ASU 2014-09 to annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period.
Early adoption is permitted only as of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim
reporting periods within that reporting period. The Company is currently assessing the adoption date and impact the
guidance in this ASU will have, if any, on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows, or financial position.
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In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals
of Components of an Entity, which changes the criteria for reporting discontinued operations while enhancing
disclosures in this area. Under the new guidance, only disposals representing a strategic shift in operations should be
presented as discontinued operations. Those strategic shifts should have a major effect on the organization’s operations
and financial results. Examples include a disposal of a major geographic area, a major line of business, or a major
equity method investment. Additionally, the new guidance requires expanded disclosures about discontinued
operations that will provide financial statement users with more information about the assets, liabilities, income,
expenses of discontinued operations and of the pretax income attributable to a disposal of a significant part of an
organization that does not qualify for discontinued operations reporting. The new standard is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014. We have evaluated and adopted the accounting guidance with
respect to our dispositions of EFLS and CLL.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Shareholders
Energy Focus, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Energy Focus, Inc. and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Company”) as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations,
comprehensive income (loss), shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2015. Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included the financial statement schedule
appearing under Schedule II. These financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and financial
statement schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Energy Focus, Inc. and its subsidiaries as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the financial
schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, present fairly, in
all material respects, the information set forth therein.

/s/ Plante & Moran, PLLC 

Cleveland, Ohio
March 9, 2016
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ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF DECEMBER 31,
(amounts in thousands except share data)

2015 2014
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $34,640 $7,435
Trade accounts receivable less allowances of $155 and $307, respectively 10,110 2,656
Inventories, net 7,732 6,869
Prepaid and other current assets 740 899
Current assets of discontinued operations — 1,070
Total current assets 53,222 18,929

Property and equipment, net 2,429 456
Other assets 51 38
Non-current assets of discontinued operations — 73
Total assets $55,702 $19,496

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $7,295 $7,120
Accrued liabilities 2,917 962
Deferred revenue 93 133
Credit line borrowings — 453
Current liabilities of discontinued operations — 939
Total current liabilities 10,305 9,607

Other liabilities 77 46
Long-term debt, net of current maturities — 70
Total liabilities 10,382 9,723

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Preferred stock, par value $0.0001 per share:
Authorized: 2,000,000 shares in 2015 and 2014 Issued and outstanding: no
shares in 2015 and 2014 — —

Common stock, par value $0.0001 per share:
Authorized: 30,000,000 shares in 2015 and 15,000,000 in 2014 Issued and
outstanding: 11,648,978 at December 31, 2015 and 9,423,975 at December 31,
2014

1 1

Additional paid-in capital 125,369 98,133
Accumulated other comprehensive income — 469
Accumulated deficit (80,050 ) (88,830 )
Total stockholders' equity 45,320 9,773
Total liabilities and stockholders' equity $55,702 $19,496

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
(amounts in thousands except per share data) 

2015 2014 2013

Net sales $64,403 $22,700 $9,423
Cost of sales 35,111 14,922 7,345
Gross profit 29,292 7,778 2,078

Operating expenses:
Product development 2,810 1,030 595
Selling, general, and administrative 16,830 7,839 6,434
Loss on impairment — — 608
Change in estimate of contingent liabilities — — 12
Restructuring — — 80
Total operating expenses 19,640 8,869 7,729
Income (loss) from operations 9,652 (1,091 ) (5,651 )

Other (income) expense:
Settlement of acquisition obligations — — (892 )
Interest expense 85 2,689 840
Other expenses (income) (53 ) 466 308

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes9,620 (4,246 ) (5,907 )
Provision for income taxes 149 — —
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $9,471 $(4,246 ) $(5,907 )

Discontinued operations:
Loss from discontinued operations (167 ) (1,571 ) (368 )
(Loss) gain on sale of discontinued operations (534 ) (30 ) 3,915

(Loss) income from discontinued operations before income
taxes (701 ) (1,601 ) 3,547

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (10 ) (2 ) 1
(Loss) income from discontinued operations $(691 ) $(1,599 ) $3,546

Net income (loss) $8,780 $(5,845 ) $(2,361 )

Net income (loss) per share - basic:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $0.91 $(0.55 ) $(1.24 )
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations (0.07 ) (0.20 ) 0.74
Net income (loss) $0.84 $(0.75 ) $(0.50 )

Net income (loss) per share - diluted:
Net income (loss) from continuing operations $0.88 $(0.55 ) $(1.24 )
Net (loss) income from discontinued operations $(0.06 ) $(0.20 ) $0.74
Net income (loss) $0.82 $(0.75 ) $(0.50 )
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Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 10,413 7,816 4,779
Diluted 10,752 7,816 4,779
 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
(amounts in thousands)

2015 2014 2013

Net income (loss) $8,780 $(5,845 ) $(2,361 )

Other comprehensive (loss) income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (469 ) 7 2
Reclassification of foreign currency translation adjustments 469 — —
Comprehensive income (loss) $8,780 $(5,838 ) $(2,359 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015, 2014, AND 2013
(amounts in thousands)

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Income

Common Stock Accumulated
DeficitShares Amount Total

Balance at December 31, 2012 4,470 $— $80,989 $460 $(80,624 ) $825

Issuance of common stock 2 2
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock option and stock
purchase plans

20 45 45

Convertible debt issued for
financing 2,697 2,697

Issuance of common stock for
conversion of convertible debt 652 1 1,500 1,501

Stock-based compensation 201 201
Warrants issued 12 12
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 2 2

Net loss (2,361 ) (2,361 )
Balance at December 31, 2013 5,142 $1 $85,446 $462 $(82,985 ) $2,924

Issuance of common stock 1,343 5,090 5,090
Issuance of common stock under
employee stock option and stock
purchase plans

18 58 58

Issuance of common stock for
conversion of convertible debt 2,672 6,145 6,145

Stock-based compensation 532 532
Warrants exercised 249 862 862
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 7 7

Net loss (5,845 ) (5,845 )
Balance at December 31, 2014 9,424 $1 $98,133 $469 $(88,830 ) $9,773

Issuance of common stock under
registered follow-on offering, net 1,500 23,574 23,574

Issuance of common stock under
employee stock option and stock
purchase plans

77 346 346

Stock-based compensation 10 813 813
Warrants exercised 638 2,503 2,503
Reclassification of foreign currency
translation adjustments (469 ) (469 )

Net income 8,780 8,780
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Balance at December 31, 2015 11,649 $1 $125,369 $— $(80,050 ) $45,320

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
(amounts in thousands) 

2015 2014 2013
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss) $8,780 $(5,845 ) $(2,361 )
(Loss) income from discontinued operations $(691 ) $(1,599 ) $3,546
Income (loss) from continuing operations $9,471 $(4,246 ) $(5,907 )
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in
operating activities:
Loss on impairment — — 608
Depreciation 266 184 615
Stock-based compensation 813 532 201
Settlement of acquisition obligations — — (892 )
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable 39 2 (32 )
Provision for slow-moving and obsolete inventory 1,464 194 146
Amortization of intangible assets — — —
Amortization of discounts on long-term borrowings and
acquisition related liabilities — 2,815 443

Amortization of loan origination fees 40 140 159
Change in estimate of contingent liabilities — — 12
Loss (gain) on dispositions of property and equipment 3 2 6
Change in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, inventories, and other assets (9,674 ) (4,781 ) (73 )
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 2,064 4,933 (849 )
Deferred revenue (40 ) 62 (680 )
Total adjustments (5,025 ) 4,083 (336 )
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 4,446 (163 ) (6,243 )

Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of property and equipment (2,242 ) (194 ) (174 )
Proceeds from the sale of property and equipment — 130 —
Net cash used in investing activities (2,242 ) (64 ) (174 )

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from warrants exercised 2,503 — —
Proceeds from issuances of common stock, net 23,574 5,952 —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and purchases through
employee stock purchase plan 346 58 48

Proceeds from other borrowings — — 6,124
Payments on other borrowings (13 ) (223 ) (304 )
Net (repayments) proceeds from credit line borrowings (453 ) 453 (1,590 )
Net cash provided by financing activities 25,957 6,240 4,278

Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations 28,161 6,013 (2,139 )
(continued on the following page)

 The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31,
(amounts in thousands)

2015 2014 2013

Cash flows of discontinued operations:
Operating cash flows, net (691 ) (604 ) 3,279
Investing cash flows, net 181 — (38 )
Financing cash flows, net (446 ) 136 —
Net cash used in discontinued operations (956 ) (468 ) 3,241

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 27,205 5,545 1,102
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 7,435 1,890 788
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $34,640 $7,435 $1,890

Classification of cash and cash equivalents:
Cash and cash equivalents $34,527 $7,030 $1,296
Restricted cash held 113 105 94
Cash held in escrow — 300 500
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $34,640 $7,435 $1,890

Supplemental information:
Cash paid in year for interest $84 $305 $482
Cash paid in year for income taxes $200 $— $—

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Fully depreciated assets disposed of $106 $1,238 $2,623
Non-cash charge to write-off of remaining unamortized discount
on convertible debt $— $2,287 $204

Conversion of subordinated convertible debt $— $6,145 $1,500

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS

Energy Focus, Inc. and its subsidiaries engage in the design, development, manufacturing, marketing, and installation
of energy-efficient lighting systems. We operate in a single industry segment, developing and selling our
energy-efficient light-emitting diode ("LED") lighting products into the military maritime, and general commercial
and industrial markets. We have aligned our resourced and focused our efforts on the sale of LED lighting products, in
particular our military and commercial tubular LED ("TLED") lines of products, into targeted vertical markets.

During 2014, we shifted our focus away from the turnkey solutions business, which had historically incurred lower
gross margins. We completed all outstanding solutions-based projects in the first quarter of 2015, are no longer
accepting new projects, and had fully exited the business as of September 2015. In August 2015, we sold our United
Kingdom subsidiary, Crescent Lighting Limited ("CLL"). In 2013, we sold and discontinued our pool products
business. As a result of exiting the turnkey solutions, CLL, and the pool products businesses, we have eliminated all
net sales and expenses associated with both businesses from the Consolidated Statements of Operations and reported
the net losses as discontinued operations. Please refer to Note 3, "Discontinued Operations," for more information on
our disposition of these businesses.

Additionally, product development is a key focus for us. Our product development team is dedicated to developing
and designing leading-edge technology LED lighting products, and we have recently opened product development
centers in Taiwan and Minnesota. During 2013, we curtailed our efforts on bidding on research contracts and grants to
focus on product development.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The significant accounting policies of our Company, which are summarized below, are consistent with U.S. GAAP
and reflect practices appropriate to the business in which we operate.

Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities
at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods
presented. Estimates include, but are not limited to, the establishment of reserves for accounts receivable, sales
returns, inventory obsolescence and warranty claims; the useful lives for property, equipment, and intangible assets;
and stock-based compensation. In addition, estimates and assumptions associated with the determination of the fair
value of financial instruments and evaluation of long-lived assets for impairment requires considerable judgment.
Actual results could differ from those estimates and such differences could be material.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified within the Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes
thereto, to be consistent with current year presentation.

Basis of presentation
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The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and, until its disposition, its subsidiary,
EFLS in Solon, Ohio, and, until its disposition, its former subsidiary, CLL, and its subsidiary, Energy Focus Europe,
Ltd., each located in the United Kingdom. All significant inter-company balances and transactions have been
eliminated. On August 4, 2015, we entered into a Share Sale Agreement with John Harris, the managing director of
CLL, pursuant to which Mr. Harris acquired CLL from us for nominal consideration. Additionally, during 2014, we
shifted our focus away from providing turnkey solutions, we stopped accepting new projects, and during the third
quarter of 2015, we completed our exit from this business. In 2013, we sold and discontinued our pool products
business. Therefore, the results of operations and financial position of EFLS, CLL, and the pool products business are
included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as Discontinued operations and previously reported financial
information for the current and prior years have been adjusted. Unless indicated otherwise, the information in the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements relates to our continuing operations.

43

Edgar Filing: ENERGY FOCUS, INC/DE - Form 10-K

77



ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when it is realized or realizable, has been earned, and when all of the following have occurred:

•persuasive evidence or an arrangement exists (e.g., a sales order, a purchase order, or a sales agreement),

•shipment has occurred, with the standard shipping term being F.O.B. ship point, or services provided on a
proportional performance basis or installation have been completed,
•price to the buyer is fixed or determinable, and
•collectability is reasonably assured.

Revenues from sales of our products are generally recognized upon shipping based upon the following:

•all sales made by us to our customer base are non-contingent, meaning that they are not tied to that customer’s resale
of products,

•standard terms of sale contain shipping terms of F.O.B. ship point, meaning that title and risk of loss is transferred
when shipping occurs, and

•there are no automatic return provisions that allow the customer to return the product in the event that the product
does not sell within a defined timeframe.

Revenues from research and development contracts are recognized primarily on the percentage-of-completion method
of accounting. Deferred revenue is recorded for the excess of contract billings over the amount of contract costs and
profits. Costs in excess of billings, included in prepaid and other assets, are recorded for contract costs in excess of
contract billings.

We warrant our products against defects or workmanship issues. We set up allowances for estimated returns,
discounts and warranties upon recognition of revenue, and these allowances are adjusted periodically to reflect actual
and anticipated returns, discounts and warranty expenses. These allowances are based on past history and historical
trends, and contractual terms. The distributors’ obligations to us are not contingent upon the resale of our products and
as such do not prohibit revenue recognition.

Cash and cash equivalents

We consider all highly liquid investments purchased with an original maturity of three months or less to be cash
equivalents. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had $34.6 million and $7.4 million, respectively, in cash on deposit
with financial institutions located in the United States, of which $113 thousand and $105 thousand, respectively was
designated as restricted cash and relates to funds to be used exclusively for a research and development project with
the National Shipbuilding Research Program. Additionally, our cash balance at December 31, 2014 included $300
thousand of the purchase price from the sale of our pool products business in escrow to secure our obligations of the
sale, subject to the resolution of outstanding buyer claims. At December 31, 2015, we offset the full escrow amount by
the expected costs to settle such claims as we have reached an agreement in principle with the buyer with respect to
such settlement and the parties are working toward a written settlement agreement.

Inventories

We state inventories at the lower of standard cost (which approximates actual cost determined using the
first-in-first-out method) or market value. We establish provisions for excess and obsolete inventories after evaluation
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of historical sales, current economic trends, forecasted sales, product lifecycles, and current inventory levels. Due to
the introduction of new products and technological advancements, charges to cost of sales for excess and obsolete
inventories from continuing operations amounted to $1.5 million, $95 thousand, and $109 thousand in 2015, 2014,
and 2013, respectively. Please refer to Note 4, "Inventories," for additional information.

Accounts receivable

Our customers are concentrated in the United States. In the normal course of business, we extend unsecured credit to
our customers related to the sale of our services and products. Typical credit terms require payment within 30 to 60
days from the date of delivery or service. We evaluate and monitor the creditworthiness of each customer on a
case-by-case basis. We also provide allowances for sales returns and doubtful accounts based on our continuing
evaluation of our customers’ ongoing
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ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

requirements and credit risk. We write-off accounts receivable when we deem that they have become uncollectible
and payments subsequently received on such receivables are credited to the allowance for doubtful accounts. We do
not generally require collateral from our customers.

Income taxes

As part of the process of preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, we are required to estimate our income tax
liability in each of the jurisdictions in which we do business. This process involves estimating our actual current tax
expense together with assessing temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items, such as deferred
revenues, for tax and accounting purposes. These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are
included in our Consolidated Balance Sheet. We then assess the likelihood that these deferred tax assets will be
recovered from future taxable income and, to the extent that we believe that it is more likely than not that the deferred
tax assets will not be recovered, or is unknown, we establish a valuation allowance.

Significant management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, deferred tax assets and
liabilities, and any valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we
had a full valuation allowance recorded against our deferred tax assets in the United States due to uncertainties related
to our ability to utilize our deferred tax assets, primarily consisting of certain net operating losses carried forward. The
valuation allowance is based upon our estimates of taxable income by jurisdiction and the period over which our
deferred tax assets will be recoverable.

At December 31, 2015, we had net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $69.1 million for federal, state, and
local income tax purposes. However, due to changes in our capital structure, approximately $14.8 million of this
amount is available after the application of IRC Section 382 limitations. As a result of this limitation, in 2016, we only
expect to have approximately $6.0 million of the net operating loss carry-forward available for use. If not utilized,
these carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2021 for federal purposes, and have begun to expire for state and local
purposes. Please refer to Note 12, "Income Taxes," for additional information.

Collateralized assets

During the fourth quarter of 2014, $1.0 million of cash collateral related to our surety bonding program associated
with EFLS was refunded to us by the surety carrier, as it was determined that the collateral was no longer needed.

Fair value measurements

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or would be paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. The fair value of financial assets and
liabilities are measured on a recurring or non-recurring basis. Financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring
basis are those that are adjusted to fair value each time a financial statement is prepared. Financial assets and liabilities
measured on a non-recurring basis are those that are adjusted to fair value when a significant event occurs.
We utilize valuation techniques that maximize the use of available market information and generally accepted
valuation methodologies. We assess the inputs used to measure fair value using a three-tier hierarchy. The hierarchy
indicates the extent to which pricing inputs used in measuring fair value are observable in the market. Level 1 inputs
include unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities and are the most observable. Level 2 inputs include
unadjusted quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities that are either directly or indirectly observable, or other
observable inputs such as interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates, commodity rates, and yield curves. Level 3
inputs are not observable in the market and include our own judgments about the assumptions market participants
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would use in pricing the asset or liability.
The carrying amounts of certain financial instruments including cash and equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts
payable, accrued liabilities, and credit line borrowings approximate fair value due to their short maturities. Based on
borrowing rates currently available to us for loans with similar terms, the carrying value of long-term debt obligations
also approximates fair value.

Long-lived assets

Property and equipment are stated at cost and include expenditures for additions and major improvements.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are charged to operations as incurred. We use the straight-line method of
depreciation over the estimated useful lives of the related assets (generally 2 to 15 years) for financial reporting
purposes. Accelerated methods of depreciation are used for federal income tax purposes. When assets are sold or
otherwise disposed of, the cost and accumulated
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ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

depreciation are removed from the accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations. Refer to Note 5, "Property and Equipment," for additional information.

Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. Events or circumstances that would result in an impairment review primarily include operations
reporting losses, a significant change in the use of an asset, or the planned disposal or sale of the asset. The asset
would be considered impaired when the future net undiscounted cash flows generated by the asset are less than its
carrying value. An impairment loss would be recognized based on the amount by which the carrying value of the asset
exceeds its fair value, as determined by quoted market prices (if available) or the present value of expected future cash
flows. On December 31, 2013, we recorded an impairment charge of $608 thousand for assets that were held for sale
at December 31, 2013. These assets were subsequently sold in the first quarter of 2014 for $130 thousand, which was
the carrying value after the impairment charge. See Note 5, "Property and Equipment," for additional information.

Certain risks and concentrations

We sell our products through a combination of direct sales employees, independent sales representatives, and
distributors in different geographic markets throughout the world. We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our
customers and generally do not require collateral. Although we maintain allowances for potential credit losses that we
believe to be adequate, a payment default on a significant sale could materially and adversely affect our operating
results and financial condition.

We have certain customers whose net sales individually represented 10 percent or more of our total net sales, or whose
net trade accounts receivable balance individually represented 10 percent or more of our total net trade accounts
receivable, as follows:

For 2015, LED Lighting Solutions Global, LLC (an affiliate of Energy Management Products, LLC) (“LLS”) and
Atlantic Diving Supply, Inc. ("ADS") accounted for 59 percent and 16 percent of net sales, respectively, and together
with the Naval Surface Warfare Centers and DFAS Columbus comprised sales of products for the U.S. Navy totaling
approximately 80 percent of net sales.

For 2014, LLS and DFAS Columbus accounted for approximately 64 percent and 10 percent of net sales, respectively,
and together comprised sales of products for the U.S. Navy totaling approximately 74 percent of net sales.

For 2013, DFAS Columbus and the Ohio Department of Development accounted for approximately 30 percent and 10
percent of net sales, respectively.

At December 31, 2015, ADS accounted for 62 percent of net trade receivables. At December 31, 2014, LLS, ES
Entegral Solutions, Inc. and Johnson Controls, Inc. accounted for approximately 55 percent, 20 percent, and 10
percent of net trade accounts receivable, respectively.

We require substantial amounts of purchased materials from selected vendors. With specific materials, all of our
purchases are from a single vendor. Substantially all of the materials we require are in adequate supply. However, the
availability and costs of materials may be subject to change due to, among other things, new laws or regulations,
suppliers’ allocation to other purchasers, interruptions in production by suppliers, and changes in exchange rates and
worldwide price and demand levels. Our inability to obtain adequate supplies of materials for our products at
favorable prices could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position, or results of operations by
decreasing our profit margins and by hindering our ability to deliver products to our customers on a timely basis.
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Product development

Product development expenses include salaries, contractor and consulting fees, supplies and materials, as well as costs
related to other overhead items such as depreciation and facilities costs. Research and development costs are expensed
as they are incurred.

Net income (loss) per share

Basic income (loss) per share is computed by dividing the net income (loss) available to common stockholders by the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the period, excluding the effects of any potentially
dilutive securities. Diluted income (loss) per share gives effect to all dilutive potential common shares outstanding
during the period. Dilutive potential common shares consist of incremental shares upon exercise of stock options and
warrants, unless the effect would be anti-dilutive.

46

Edgar Filing: ENERGY FOCUS, INC/DE - Form 10-K

83



ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table presents a reconciliation of basic and diluted income (loss) per share computations (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

For the year ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Numerator:
Income (loss) from continuing operations $9,471 $(4,246 ) $(5,907 )
(Loss) income from discontinued operations (691 ) (1,599 ) 3,546
Net income (loss) $8,780 $(5,845 ) $(2,361 )

Denominator:
Basic weighted average common shares outstanding 10,413 7,816 4,779
Potential common shares from options and warrants 339 — —
Diluted weighted average shares 10,752 7,816 4,779

As a result of the net loss we incurred for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, options, warrants and
convertible securities representing approximately 818,832 and 1,955,809 shares of common stock were excluded from
the loss per share calculation, respectively, because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive.

Stock-based compensation

We recognize compensation expense based on the estimated grant date fair value under the authoritative guidance.
Management applies the Black-Scholes option pricing model to value stock options issued to employees and directors,
and applies judgment in estimating key assumptions that are important elements of the model in expense recognition.
These elements include the expected life of the option, the expected stock-price volatility, and expected forfeiture
rates. Compensation expense is generally amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period, which is
generally the vesting period. See Note 11, "Stockholders’ Equity," for additional information. Common stock, stock
options, and warrants issued to non-employees that are not part of an equity offering are accounted for under the
applicable guidance under ASC 505-50, Equity-Based Payments to Non-Employees, and are generally re-measured at
each reporting date until the awards vest.

Foreign currency translation

Until its disposition, our international subsidiary used its local currency as its functional currency. Assets and
liabilities were translated at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date and income and expense accounts were
translated at average exchange rates during the year. Resulting translation adjustments were recorded directly to
“Accumulated other comprehensive income” within the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity. With the sale
of CLL in August 2015, the translation adjustments recorded within the Consolidated Statements of Stockholders'
Equity were reclassified and are recorded as a component of the "Loss on disposal of discontinued operations" within
the Consolidated Statements of Operations. See Note 3, "Discontinued Operations," for additional information.

Advertising expenses

Advertising expenses are charged to operations in the period incurred. They consist of costs for the placement of our
advertisements in various media and the costs of demos provided to potential distributors of our products. Advertising
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expenses from continuing operations were $695 thousand, $214 thousand, and $82 thousand for the years ended
December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively.

Shipping and handling costs

We include shipping and handling revenues in net sales, and shipping and handling costs in cost of sales.
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Product warranties

We warrant finished goods against defects in material and workmanship under normal use and service for periods
generally between one and five years. Settlement costs consist of actual amounts expensed for warranty coverage,
which are largely a result of the cost of replacement products. A liability for the estimated future costs under product
warranties is maintained for products outstanding under warranty and is included in “Accrued liabilities” in our
Consolidated Balance Sheets. The warranty activity for the respective years is as follows (in thousands):

At December 31,
2015 2014

Balance at the beginning of the year $81 $75
Accruals for warranties issued 255 49
Settlements made during the year (in cash or in kind) (22 ) (43 )
Accrued warranty expense $314 $81

Recent accounting standards and pronouncements

In November 2015, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740):
Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, which requires entities to present deferred tax assets ("DTAs") and
deferred tax liabilities ("DTLs") as noncurrent in a classified balance sheet. This presentation simplifies the current
guidance, which requires entities to separately present DTAs and DTLs as current or noncurrent in a classified balance
sheet. The netting of DTAs and DTLs by tax jurisdiction is still required under the new guidance. The standard is
effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted. The
adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material impact on our disclosures as a result of the full valuation
allowance we have recorded against our DTAs.

In September 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU No. 2015-16, Business
Combinations (Topic 805). The amendments in this ASU require that an acquiring company recognize adjustments to
provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment
amounts are determined. Additionally, this ASU requires an entity to present separately on the face of the income
statement or disclose in the notes the portion of the amount recorded in current period earnings by line item that would
have been recorded in previous reporting periods if the adjustment to the provisional amounts had been recognized as
of the acquisition date. To simplify the accounting for adjustments made to provisional amounts recognized in a
business combination, the amendments in this ASU eliminates the requirement to retrospectively account for those
adjustments. This ASU is effective prospectively for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, including
interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company does not expect the guidance in this ASU to have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

In July 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330), which requires entities to measure most
inventory at the lower of cost and net realizable value. This measure simplifies the current guidance, which requires
entities to measure inventory at the lower of cost or market, where market is defined as one of three different
measures, including net realizable value. The ASU does not apply to inventories measured by using either the last-in,
first-out method or the retail inventory method. The ASU is effective prospectively for interim and annual periods
beginning after December 15, 2016, and early adoption is permitted. We are in the process of evaluating the impact of
the standard.
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In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-03, Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, which
requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be presented in the balance sheet as a direct
deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. The amendments in this
update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015 and interim periods within those fiscal years.
We do not expect the guidance to have a material impact on the Company.
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In April 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-05, Customer's Accounting for Fees Paid in a Cloud Computing
Arrangement, which provides guidance to customers about whether a cloud computing arrangement includes a
software license. If a cloud computing arrangement includes a software license, the customer should account for the
software license element of the arrangement consistent with the acquisition of other software licenses. If a cloud
computing arrangement does not include a software license, the customer should account for the arrangement as a
service contract. The guidance will not change U.S. GAAP for a customer's accounting for service contracts. The
amendments in the update are effective for interim and annual periods beginning after December 15, 2015. We do not
expect the guidance to have a material impact on the Company.

In January 2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-01, Income Statement-Extraordinary and Unusual Items (Subtopic
225-20): Simplifying Income Statement Presentation by Eliminating the Concept of Extraordinary Items, which
provides guidance on simplifying income statement presentation by eliminating the concept of extraordinary items
from U.S. GAAP. The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal
years, beginning after December 15, 2015. A reporting entity may apply the amendments prospectively and
retrospectively to all periods presented in the financial statements. Early adoption is permitted provided that the
guidance is applied from the beginning of the fiscal year of adoption. We have evaluated the accounting guidance and
determined that there is no impact of this update to our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-9, Revenue Recognition - Revenue from Contracts with Customers,
which is a comprehensive revenue recognition standard that will supersede nearly all of the existing revenue
recognition guidance under U.S. GAAP. The standard is effective for interim and annual periods beginning after
December 15, 2016, and either full retrospective adoption or modified retrospective adoption is permitted. In August
2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customer (Topic 606): Deferral of the Effective
Date. This ASU defers the effective date of ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customer (Topic 606) for all
entities by one year. As a result, all entities will be required to apply the provisions of ASU 2014-09 to annual
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim reporting periods within that reporting period.
Early adoption is permitted only as of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim
reporting periods within that reporting period. The Company is currently assessing the adoption date and impact the
guidance in this ASU will have, if any, on our consolidated results of operations, cash flows, or financial position.

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals
of Components of an Entity, which changes the criteria for reporting discontinued operations while enhancing
disclosures in this area. Under the new guidance, only disposals representing a strategic shift in operations should be
presented as discontinued operations. Those strategic shifts should have a major effect on the organization’s operations
and financial results. Examples include a disposal of a major geographic area, a major line of business, or a major
equity method investment. Additionally, the new guidance requires expanded disclosures about discontinued
operations that will provide financial statement users with more information about the assets, liabilities, income,
expenses of discontinued operations and of the pretax income attributable to a disposal of a significant part of an
organization that does not qualify for discontinued operations reporting. The new standard is effective for interim and
annual periods beginning after December 15, 2014. We have evaluated and adopted the accounting guidance with
respect to our dispositions of EFLS and CLL.

NOTE 3. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

EFLS

As part of the strategy to align our resources with developing and selling our energy-efficient LED products into the
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commercial and military maritime markets, we completed the exit of our turnkey solutions business, operated by
EFLS during the third quarter of 2015. During 2014, we shifted our focus away from the turnkey solutions business.
We stopped accepting new projects and completed all outstanding solutions-based projects in the first quarter of 2015.
As of September 30, 2015, the exit of our turnkey solutions business was complete. Accordingly, the operating results
related to EFLS have been included as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for all
periods presented. There were no assets disposed as a result of the disposition, and we did not recognize a gain or loss
on disposal or record an income tax expense or benefit. We do not anticipate any significant continuing involvement
related to this discontinued operation.

CLL

In August 2015, we sold our wholly-owned United Kingdom subsidiary, CLL. The sale was for nominal consideration
under the terms of the agreement. As a result of the transaction and the elimination of this foreign subsidiary
consolidated under the equity method of accounting, we recorded a one-time loss of $44 thousand, which included a
$469 thousand accumulated other comprehensive income reclassification adjustment for foreign currency translation
adjustments. The loss was recorded in the
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Consolidated Statements of Operations under the caption "Loss on disposal of discontinued operations." We do not
anticipate any significant continuing involvement related to this discontinued operation.

Pool Products Business

On November 26, 2013, we announced the sale of our pool products business for a cash purchase price of $5.2
million. Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, we sold substantially all of the assets associated with the pool
products business and the buyer assumed certain related liabilities. In connection with the sale, we and the buyer
entered into a transition services agreement that continued until April 30, 2014, under which we provided services to
transition the pool products business to the buyer. In addition, the Purchase Agreement contains representations,
warranties and covenants of us and the buyer and prohibits us from competing with the buyer in the pool business for
a period of five years following the closing. The Purchase Agreement also provided for an escrow of $500 thousand of
the purchase price to secure customary indemnification obligations with respect to our representations, warranties,
covenants and other obligations under the Purchase Agreement. Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, the first
of five $100 thousand scheduled escrow releases commenced on March 25, 2014, and was to continue on the 25th day
of each of the next four subsequent months. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, $200 thousand of the cash held in
escrow had been released to us and $300 thousand remained in escrow subject to the resolution of outstanding buyer
claims that were the subject of an arbitration claim filed by the buyer in February 2015. The legal fees incurred for the
arbitration are included in the loss on disposal of discontinued operations. For more information on the status of the
remaining cash in escrow, please refer to Note 15, "Legal Matters."

As a result of exiting EFLS and selling CLL and the pool products businesses, we have eliminated all net sales and
expenses associated with this business from the Consolidated Statements of Operations, and have reported the net
(loss) income from those activities as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statements of Operations for all
years presented.

The following table shows the components included in assets and liabilities of discontinued operations within the
Consolidated Balance Sheets (in thousands):

December 31, 2014
EFLS CLL Total

Cash and cash equivalents $93 $4 $97
Trade accounts receivable 312 145 457
Inventories — 414 414
Prepaid and other current assets 7 95 102
Current assets of discontinued operations 412 658 1,070

Property and equipment, net — 23 23
Other assets — 50 50
Non-current assets of discontinued operations — 73 73

Total assets of discontinued operations $412 $731 $1,143

Accounts payable $163 $318 $481
Accrued liabilities 73 362 435
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on
uncompleted contracts 23 — 23

Current liabilities of discontinued operations 259 680 939
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Total liabilities of discontinued operations $259 $680 $939

The following table summarizes the components included in loss from discontinued operations in our Consolidated
Statements of Operations for the periods presented (in thousands):
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December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Net sales $1,078 $6,262 $16,564
Cost of sales 588 4,690 12,254
Gross Profit 490 1,572 4,310

Operating expenses of discontinued operations 657 3,079 4,746
Other expenses (income) — 64 (68 )
(Loss) gain on disposal of discontinued operations (534 ) (30 ) 3,915
(Loss) gain from discontinued operations before income
taxes (701 ) (1,601 ) 3,547

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (10 ) (2 ) 1
(Loss) gain from discontinued operations $(691 ) $(1,599 ) $3,546

The following table shows the components of the loss from discontinued operations by business for the periods
presented (in thousands):

December 31,
2015 2014 2013

CLL (138 ) (1,020 ) (174 )
EFLS (29 ) (531 ) (866 )
Pool products business — (20 ) 672
(Loss) gain from discontinued operations (167 ) (1,571 ) (368 )

CLL (44 ) — —
Pool products business (490 ) (30 ) 3,915
(Loss) gain on disposal of discontinued operations (534 ) (30 ) 3,915

(Loss) gain from discontinued operations before income
taxes (701 ) (1,601 ) 3,547

(Benefit from) provision for income taxes (10 ) (2 ) 1

(Loss) gain from discontinued operations $(691 ) $(1,599 ) $3,546

NOTE 4. INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of standard cost (which approximates actual cost determined using the first-in,
first-out cost method) or market and consists of the following (in thousands):

At December 31,
2015 2014

Raw materials $4,577 $2,987
Finished goods 4,577 4,187
Reserve for excess, obsolete, and slow moving inventories (1,422 ) (305 )
Inventories, net $7,732 $6,869
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NOTE 5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost and depreciated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the related assets and consist of the following (in thousands):

At December 31,
2015 2014

Equipment (useful life 3 - 15 years) $2,864 $1,289
Tooling (useful life 2 - 5 years) 851 851
Vehicles (useful life 5 years) 39 —
Furniture and fixtures (useful life 5 years) 104 85
Computer software (useful life 3 years) 581 378
Leasehold improvements (the shorter of useful life or lease life) 509 509
Construction in progress 310 18
Property and equipment at cost 5,258 3,130
Less: accumulated depreciation (2,829 ) (2,674 )
Property and equipment, net $2,429 $456

Depreciation expense was $266 thousand, $184 thousand, and $615 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2015,
2014 and 2013, respectively.

NOTE 6. ACCRUED LIABILITIES

Accrued current liabilities consisted of the following (in thousands):

At December 31,
2015 2014

Accrued sales commissions and incentives $1,005 $91
Accrued warranty expense 314 81
Accrued legal and professional fees 151 91
Accrued payroll and related benefits 1,243 541
Separation accrual 96 130
Accrued income taxes 26 —
Accrued other taxes 65 8
Accrued other expenses 17 20
Total accrued liabilities $2,917 $962

NOTE 7. DEBT

Credit facilities

On December 22, 2011, we entered into a $4.5 million revolving line of credit (“credit facility”) with Rosenthal &
Rosenthal. The total loan amount available to us under the line of credit was equal to 85 percent of our net, eligible
receivables, plus available inventory (50 percent of the lower of cost or market value of eligible inventory, or $250
thousand, whichever was less). The credit facility was secured by a lien on our domestic assets. The interest rate for
borrowing on accounts receivable was 8.5 percent, on inventories 10 percent, and on overdrafts 13 percent.
Additionally, there was an annual 1 percent facility fee on the entire $4.5 million amount of the credit facility payable
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at the beginning of the year. The agreement automatically renewed from year to year after December 31, 2014, unless
we provided the requisite notice to Rosenthal. Additionally, Rosenthal had the right to terminate the agreement by
providing 60 days written notice to us. We provided the required advance
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notice to Rosenthal, and as such, the facility was terminated in December 2015. We were required to comply with
certain financial covenants, measured quarterly, including, as defined in the agreement: a tangible net worth amount
and a working capital amount. We were in compliance with the financial covenants as of December 31, 2014.
Borrowings under the revolving line of credit were $453 thousand at December 31, 2014, and are recorded in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets as a current liability under the caption “Credit line borrowings.”

Borrowings

The components of our debt at December 31, 2014 are presented in the table below (in thousands):

December 31,
2014

Unsecured promissory note - Quercus Trust $70
Long-term debt $70

On June 1, 2009, we entered into a $70 thousand unsecured promissory note with Quercus Trust that bears interest in
the amount of 1 percent per year. The principal and accrued interest on the note are due on June 1, 2109. In December
2015, we entered into an agreement with Quercus Trust to cancel the note and the accrued interest for a single
payment of $13 thousand in cash. At the time of the cancellation, we had recorded $5 thousand in accrued interest on
this note. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we recognized a gain of $62 thousand within "Other income" within
the Consolidated Statements of Operations as a result of this cancellation.

Effective on March 31, 2014, the holders of the unsecured convertible notes converted the outstanding principal
amount of $6.15 million into 2,671,739 shares of our common stock. As consideration for entering into agreements to
convert their notes, the note holders received additional interest paid at the stated rate of the notes of 5 percent through
September 30, 2014. At December 31, 2014, all of the additional interest had been paid to the note holders. In relation
to the conversion of the outstanding notes, we incurred a one-time charge of $2.7 million, including a non-cash charge
of $2.3 million to write-off the remaining unamortized discount associated with the notes, $154 thousand for the
additional six months interest and $293 thousand to write-off the remaining loan origination costs incurred in
connection with the convertible notes.

NOTE 8. RESTRUCTURING

During the third quarter of 2013, we relocated our manufacturing operations from a contract manufacturing facility
located in Mexico to our facilities located in Pleasanton, California and Solon, Ohio. The Consolidated Statements of
Operations include $80 thousand in “Restructuring” costs incurred for severance paid to Mexican contract employees as
required by the production share agreement, as amended, between us and the contract manufacturer. As a result of the
sale of our pool products business in November 2013, we relocated our manufacturing operations that were in
Pleasanton, California to Solon, Ohio. This activity was completed by March 2014, and the cost was negligible.

NOTE 9. SETTLEMENT OF ACQUISITION OBLIGATIONS

On June 28, 2013, we entered into a Settlement Agreement with EFLS, TLC Investments, LLC, Jamie Hall, and
Robert E. Wilson, terminating the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement and related agreements that the parties
had entered into at the end of December 2009 in connection with our acquisition of Stones River Companies, LLC,
now referred to as “EFLS.” As part of the Settlement Agreement, our obligation to pay a $500 thousand special fee and
a $500 thousand convertible promissory note including interest of $92 thousand were cancelled in their entirety in
exchange for a $200 thousand payment and the forgiveness of a net receivable due to us of $78 thousand.
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Additionally, we recognized a $66 thousand favorable adjustment related to the change in the estimate of a
performance-related contingent obligation for a 2.5 percent payout based upon the fair value of projected annual
billings of EFLS. See Note 10, "Commitments and Contingencies," for further information.
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The classification of these items in our Consolidated Statements of Operations is shown below (in thousands):

For the year ended
December 31,
2013

Change in estimate of contingent liabilities:
Forgiveness of net receivable due to us $78
Adjustment to performance-related contingent obligation (66 )
Net line item expense $12
Settlement of acquisition obligations:
Forgiveness of special fee $500
Forgiveness of convertible promissory note, including interest 592
Payment by us (200 )
Net line item income $892

As a provision of the Settlement Agreement, we agreed to discontinue using the name Stones River Companies and
any variant thereof by July 1, 2014. As a result of this provision, we wrote off the remaining $325 thousand of the
intangible asset for the Tradename during the second quarter of 2013.

NOTE 10. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We lease certain equipment, manufacturing, warehouse and office space under non-cancellable operating leases
expiring through 2019 under which we are responsible for related maintenance, taxes, and insurance. Future minimum
non-cancellable lease commitments are as follows (in thousands):

For the year ending December 31, Minimum Lease
Commitments

2016 $515
2017 291
2018 176
2019 131
2020 and thereafter —
Total contractual obligations $1,113

Certain leases included above contain escalation clauses and, as such, rent expense was recorded on a straight-line
basis over the term of the lease. Net rent expense from continuing operations was $783 thousand, $341 thousand, and
$410 thousand for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively.

In connection with the acquisition of EFLS in December 2009, we recorded a performance-related contingent
obligation in related to a 2.5 percent payout payable over 42 months commencing January 1, 2010 and based upon the
fair value of projected annual billings of the acquired business, and a $500 thousand fee if the market price of our
common stock is not equal to or greater than $2.00 per share for at least twenty trading days between June 30, 2010
and June 30, 2013 (due on June 30, 2013). We accrued for each of these contingent liabilities at their respective fair
values at the time of the acquisition. For the year ended December 31, 2013, we paid $206 thousand relating to the 2.5
percent payout.

On June 28, 2013, we entered into a Settlement Agreement with EFLS, TLC Investments, LLC, Jamie Hall, and
Robert E. Wilson, terminating the Membership Interest Purchase Agreement related to the acquisition of Stones River
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Companies, LLC, now known as EFLS. As part of the Settlement Agreement, our obligation to pay a $500 thousand
special fee and a $500 thousand convertible promissory note including interest of $92 thousand were cancelled in their
entirety. Additionally, we recorded at $66 thousand favorable adjustment related to the 2.5 percent payout discussed
above. See Note 9, "Settlement of acquisition obligations."
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On December 22, 2014, a former employee filed a lawsuit against us in the Superior Court of the State of California,
County of San Diego, known as Merl Toyer v. Energy Focus, Inc., et al., alleging wrongful termination and other
claims related to his employment with us. We subsequently removed the case to the United States District Court for
the Southern District of California. On May 1, 2015, we entered into a settlement agreement with the plaintiff, which
assigned no culpability to any party and provided for a payment by us in exchange for full settlement and release of
his claims. As of June 30, 2015, the total settlement amount of $330 thousand had been paid to the plaintiff. In
September 2015, we received $174 thousand as reimbursement from our insurance company for the settlement claim.
For the year ended December 31, 2015, we had income of $174 thousand from the insurance reimbursement and
expense of $156 thousand, net of the insurance settlement, respectively, included in the Consolidated Statements of
Operations under the caption, "Selling, general, and administrative."

NOTE 11. STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Authorized shares of common stock

At our annual meeting of stockholders held on July 22, 2015, the stockholders approved an amendment to the
Certificate of Incorporation, as described in our proxy statement dated June 18, 2015, to increase the authorized shares
of common stock from 15,000,000 to 30,000,000.

Common stock follow-on offering

On September 11, 2015, we announced the pricing of a registered underwritten follow-on offering of shares of our
common stock by us and certain of our stockholders (the "Selling Stockholders"). We sold 1,500,000 shares of our
common stock at a purchase price to the public of $17.00 per share and the Selling Stockholders sold an additional
1,500,000 shares of our common stock on the same terms and conditions.

The offering closed on September 16, 2015 and we received $23.6 million in net proceeds from the transaction, after
giving effect to underwriting discounts and commissions and estimated expenses. We expect to use the net proceeds
from the offering to finance our growth efforts, for working capital, and other general corporate purposes.

Public offering

On August 6, 2014, we announced the pricing of a public offering to sell 1,175,000 shares of our common stock at a
price of $4.50 per share to the public. The underwriters for the offering were given an option to purchase up to an
additional 176,250 shares at $4.50 per share to cover over allotments. On August 8, 2014, they exercised their option
to purchase the 176,250 additional shares. The offering closed on August 11, 2014. The net proceeds we received
from the offering, after deducting the underwriting discount and offering expenses paid by us, were $5.15 million,
including the underwriter’s exercise of the overallotment.

As part of the underwriting agreement, we issued a warrant for 47,000 shares to the underwriter representing four
percent of the number of shares of common stock sold in the offering at an issue price of $5.40 per share representing
120 percent of the public offering price of the shares of common stock. In conjunction with the registered offering, our
common stock began trading on The NASDAQ Capital Market (“NASDAQ”) under the symbol EFOI on August 7,
2014. The warrant was exercised on September 10, 2015.

Convertible debt

Between the fourth quarter of 2012 and October of 2013, we entered into unsecured convertible notes totaling $7.6
million. The notes were convertible into shares of our common stock at $2.30 per share at various dates beginning on
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April 2013 through February 2014. As of March 31, 2014, all of the convertible debt had been converted into
3,323,913 shares of our common stock.

Warrants

We have issued warrants in conjunction with various equity issuances, debt financing arrangements, and sales
incentives. Additionally, there was a warrant issued to a former employee in 2013 as part of the sales of our pool
products business, which was exercised in May 2015.
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A summary of warrant activity was as follows:

Warrants
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
During Period

Balance, December 31, 2012 1,305,638 $7.60
Warrants issued 2,549 3.49
Warrants expired (200,638 ) 19.70
Balance, December 31, 2013 1,107,549 4.41
Warrants issued 147,000 4.65
Warrants expired (285,000 ) 3.87
Balance, December 31, 2014 969,549 4.61
Warrants exercised (638,189 ) 4.58
Warrants cancelled/forfeited (112,110 ) 5.54
Warrants expired (205,000 ) 4.20
Balance, December 31, 2015 14,250 $4.30

Exercisable, December 31, 2015 — $—

The number of warrants and weighted average remaining life (in years) by price for outstanding and exercisable
warrants at December 31, 2015 was as follows:
WARRANTS OUTSTANDING WARRANTS EXERCISABLE

Exercise
Price

Number of
Shares
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life

Number of
Shares
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$4.30 14,250 2.07 years — $—

Stock-based compensation

On May 6, 2014, our Board of Directors approved the Energy Focus, Inc. 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2014 Plan”).
The 2014 Plan was approved by the stockholders at our annual meeting on July 15, 2014, after which no further
awards could be issued under the Energy Focus, Inc. 2008 Incentive Stock Plan (the “2008 Plan”). The 2014 Plan allows
for awards up to 600,000 shares of common stock and expires on July 15, 2024. On July 22, 2015, the stockholders
approved an amendment to the 2014 Plan to increase the shares available for issuance under the 2014 Plan by an
additional 600,000 shares. We have two other equity-based compensation plans under which options are currently
outstanding; however, no new awards may be granted under these plans. Generally, stock options are granted at fair
market value and expire ten years from the grant date. Employee grants generally vest in three or four years, while
grants to non-employee directors generally vest in one year. The specific terms of each grant are determined by our
Board of Directors. At December 31, 2015, 795,169 shares remain available to grant under the 2014 Plan.

In November 2013, as a result of the sale of the pool products business, our Board of Directors approved the
acceleration of the vesting of 7,000 options with a grant price of $2.30 per share for those employees who were being
terminated as part of the sale. Additionally, the period in which these grants could be exercised was extended from
three months from the date of termination to one year.
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We granted 5,122 restricted stock units during the third quarter of 2013; however, 1,463 were forfeited in 2013 and
2,439 were forfeited in 2014. The remaining 1,220 shares vested in July of 2014. The fair market value on the date of
grant was $4.10 per share, and the shares vested one year from the grant date.
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Stock-based compensation expense is attributed to the granting of stock options, restricted stock, and restricted stock
unit awards. For all stock-based awards, we recognize compensation expense using a straight-line amortization
method.

The impact on our results for stock-based compensation was as follows (in thousands):

For the year ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Cost of sales $38 $14 $5
Product development 37 8 28
Selling, general, and administrative 738 510 168
Total stock-based compensation $813 $532 $201

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, we had unearned stock compensation expense of $992 thousand and $387 thousand,
respectively. These costs will be charged to expense and amortized on a straight-line basis in subsequent periods. The
remaining weighted average period over which the unearned compensation is expected to be amortized was
approximately 1.9 and 2.6 years as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively.

Stock options

The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model.
Estimates utilized in the calculation include the expected life of the option, risk-free interest rate, and expected
volatility, and are further comparatively detailed as follows:

2015 2014 2013

Fair value of options issued $5.33 $3.62 $2.15
Exercise price $7.23 $4.69 $2.99
Expected life of option (in years) 5.8 5.7 7
Risk-free interest rate 1.7 % 1.8 % 1.4 %
Expected volatility 90.7 % 97.9 % 92.0 %
Dividend yield 0.00 % 0.00 % 0.00 %

The estimated expected life of the option is calculated based on contractual life of the option, the vesting life of the
option, and historical exercise patterns of vested options. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. treasury
zero-coupon yield curve on the grant date for a maturity similar to the expected life of the option. The volatility
estimates are calculated using historical volatility of our stock price calculated over a period of time representative of
the expected life of the option. We have not paid dividends in the past, and do not expect to pay dividends over the
corresponding expected term as of the grant date.
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Options outstanding under all plans at December 31, 2015 have a contractual life of ten years, and vesting periods
between one  and four years. A summary of option activity under all plans was as follows:

Number of
Options

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price
Per Share

Outstanding at December 31, 2012 218,458 $ 22.00
Granted 207,950 3.15
Cancelled (138,220 ) 7.74
Exercised (2,000 ) 5.15
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 286,188 15.30
Granted 326,250 4.76
Cancelled (145,873 ) 12.38
Exercised (7,294 ) 2.30
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 459,271 8.95
Granted 340,500 8.65
Cancelled (147,152 ) 10.10
Exercised (50,412 ) 4.69
Outstanding at December 31, 2015 602,207 $ 8.58

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2015 565,137 $ 8.71

Exercisable at December 31, 2015 304,610 $ 9.38

The “Expected to Vest” options are the unvested options that remain after applying the pre-vesting forfeiture rate
assumption to total unvested options. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during 2015 was $485 thousand.
The total intrinsic value of options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2015 was $4.2 million and
$2.3 million, respectively, which was calculated using the closing stock price at the end of the year of $13.75 per
share less the option price of the in-the-money grants.

The options outstanding at December 31, 2015 have been segregated into ranges for additional disclosure as follows:

OPTIONS OUTSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE

Range of Exercise
Prices

Number of
Shares
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (in years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

Number of
Shares
Exercisable

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Life (in years)

Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$2.30 — $4.00 61,218 7.3 $2.33 60,586 7.3 $2.33
$4.01 — $4.45 132,778 8.1 4.10 114,187 8.1 4.10
$4.46 — $5.48 198,200 9.1 5.42 25,700 8.5 5.07
$5.49 — $13.58 108,011 7.5 8.36 62,137 6.8 8.46
$13.59— $71.90 102,000 7.4 24.56 42,000 4.0 37.89

602,207 8.1 $8.58 304,610 7.1 $9.38
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Restricted stock and Restricted Stock Units

Prior to 2011, we issued restricted stock to Executive Officers and Directors in lieu of paying a portion of their cash
compensation or Directors’ fees. Beginning in 2015, we began issuing restricted stock units to employees and certain
non-employee Directors under the 2014 Plan.

The following table shows a summary of restricted stock and restricted stock unit activity:

Restricted
Stock
Outstanding

Restricted Stock
Units
Outstanding

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

At December 31, 2012 41,461 — $7.31
Granted — — —
Vested (5,592 ) — 7.31
At December 31, 2013 35,869 — 7.31
Granted — — —
Vested (35,869 ) — 7.31
At December 31, 2014 — — —
Granted — 73,750 6.92
Cancelled — (16,250 ) 5.54
At December 31, 2015 — 57,500 $7.31

Employee stock purchase plans

In September 2013, our stockholders approved the 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2013 Plan”) to replace the
1994 prior purchase plan. A total of 500,000 shares of common stock were provided for issuance under the 2013 Plan.
The 2013 Plan permits eligible employees to purchase common stock through payroll deductions at a price equal to
the lower of 85 percent of the fair market value of our common stock at the beginning or end of the offering period.
Employees may end their participation at any time during the offering period, and participation ends automatically
upon termination of employment with us. During 2015, 2014 and 2013, employees purchased 18,119, 9,932, and
17,655 shares, respectively. At December 31, 2015, 465,535 shares remained available for purchase under the 2014
Plan.

NOTE 12. INCOME TAXES

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, as well as in various state and local jurisdictions. With few
exceptions, we are no longer subject to U.S. federal, state, and local, or non-United States income tax examinations by
tax authorities for years before 2012. Our practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to income tax matters
in income tax expense when and if they become applicable. At December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, there were
no accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions.

The following table shows the components of income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (in
thousands):

For the year ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013
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United States $9,620 $(4,246 ) $(5,907 )
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes $9,620 $(4,246 ) $(5,907 )
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The following table shows the components of the provision for income taxes from continuing operations (in
thousands):

For the year ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Current:
U.S. federal $123 $— $—
State 26 — —
Provision for income taxes $149 $— $—

The principal items accounting for the difference between income taxes computed at the U.S. statutory rate and the
provision for income taxes from continuing operations reflected in our Consolidated Statements of Operations are as
follows:

For the year ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

U.S. statutory rate 34.0  % 34.0  % 34.0  %
State taxes (net of federal tax benefit) 0.2 1.0 0.5
Valuation allowance (27.9 ) (19.8 ) (31.2 )
Interest amortization expense — (22.5 ) (2.5 )
Other (4.8 ) 7.3 (0.8 )

1.5  % 0.0  % 0.0  %

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets are as follows
(in thousands):

At December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Allowance for doubtful accounts $18 $11 $15
Accrued expenses and other reserves 2,244 2,082 1,960
Tax credits, deferred R&D, and other 122 44 87
Net operating loss 5,384 6,871 3,989
Valuation allowance (7,768 ) (9,008 ) (6,051 )
Net deferred tax assets $— $— $—

Our effective tax rate was lower than the statutory tax rate primarily due to a decrease in the valuation allowance as a
result of the utilization of net operating loss carry-forwards. We utilized $6.2 million of federal our net operating loss
carry-forward in 2015.

Since we believe it is more likely than not that the benefit from net operating loss carry-forwards will not be realized,
we have provided a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets at December 31, 2015 and 2014,
respectively. We had no net deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2015 or 2014, respectively. There was no federal
tax expense for 2014 or 2013, due to an increase to the valuation allowance. In 2015, we recognized Federal tax
expense as a result of the alternative minimum tax.

Deferred income tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion of
the deferred income tax assets will not be realized.  In considering the need for a valuation allowance, we assess all
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evidence, both positive and negative, available to determine whether all or some portion of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized.  Such evidence includes, but is not limited to, recent earnings history, projections of future income or
loss, reversal patterns of existing taxable and deductible temporary differences, and tax planning strategies.  We will
continue to evaluate the need for a valuation allowance on a quarterly basis.
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At December 31, 2015, we had net operating loss carry-forwards of approximately $69.1 million for U.S. federal,
state, and local income tax purposes. However, due to changes in our capital structure, approximately $14.8 million of
this amount is available to offset future taxable income after the application of the limitations found under Section 382
of the IRC. As a result of this limitation, in 2016, we only expect to have approximately $6.0 million of the net
operating loss carry-forward available for use. If not utilized, these carry-forwards will begin to expire in 2021 for
federal purposes and in 2021 or sooner for state and local purposes. Additionally, the changes to our capital structure
have subjected, and will continue to subject our net operating loss carry-forward to an annual limitation as discussed
further below. This limitation will significantly restrict our ability to utilize the carry-forward to offset taxable income
in future periods.

The IRC imposes restrictions on the utilization of various carry-forward tax attributes in the event of a change in
ownership, as defined by IRC Section 382. During 2015, we completed an IRC Section 382 review and the results of
this review indicate ownership changes have occurred which would cause a limitation on the utilization of
carry-forward attributes. Our gross capital loss carry-forwards, net operating loss carry-forwards, and research and
development credits are all subject to limitation. Under these tax provisions, the limitation is applied first to any
capital losses, next to any net operating losses, and then to any general business credits. The Section 382 limitation is
currently estimated to result in the expiration of $54.3 million of net operating loss carry-forwards and $299 thousand
of research and development credits. A valuation allowance has been established to reserve for the potential benefits
of the capital loss carry-forwards and the remaining net operating loss carry-forwards in the consolidated financial
statements to reflect the uncertainty of future taxable income required to utilize available tax loss carry-forwards.

NOTE 13. PRODUCT AND GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION

During 2013, we sold our pool products business. During 2014, we shifted our focus away from the turnkey solutions
business to align our resources with developing and selling our LED products and completed our exit of that business
in September 2015. With the exit from EFLS and sale of CLL, we have aligned our resourced and focused our efforts
on the sale of LED lighting products, in particular our military and commercial tubular LED ("TLED") lines of
products, into targeted vertical markets. Our products are sold primarily in the United States through a combination of
direct sales employees, independent sales representatives and distributors. We currently operate in a single industry
segment, developing and selling our energy-efficient light-emitting diode ("LED") lighting products into the military
maritime, and general commercial and industrial markets.

The following table provides a breakdown of product net sales from continuing operations for the years indicated (in
thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

Commercial $14,156 $5,712 $3,703
Military maritime 50,128 16,913 3,678
R&D services 119 75 2,042
Total net sales $64,403 $22,700 $9,423

A geographic summary of net sales from continuing operations is as follows (in thousands):

For the year ended December 31,
2015 2014 2013

United States Domestic $64,251 $22,667 $9,287
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International 152 33 136
Total net sales $64,403 $22,700 $9,423

At December 31, 2015 and 2014, all of our long-lived assets, which consist of property and equipment, were located
in the United States.
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NOTE 14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

On December 12, 2012, our Board of Directors appointed James Tu to serve as our non-executive Chairman. On April
30, 2013, Mr. Tu became the Executive Chairman assuming the duties of the Principal Executive Officer. On October
30, 2013 Mr. Tu was appointed Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer by the Board of Directors. Mr. Tu is
also the Founder, Chief Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer of 5 Elements Global Advisors, an investment
advisory and management company managing the holdings of 5 Elements Global Fund LP, which was a beneficial
owner of more than 5 percent of our common stock prior to the August 2014 registered offering. As of December 31,
2015, 5 Elements Global Advisors holds approximately 2.3 percent of our common stock. 5 Elements Global Advisors
focuses on investing in clean energy companies with breakthrough, commercialized technologies, and near-term
profitability potential. Mr. Tu is also Co-Founder of Communal International Ltd. (“Communal”), a British Virgin
Islands company dedicated to assisting clean energy, solutions-based companies, maximizing technology and product
potential and gaining them access to global marketing, distribution licensing, manufacturing and financing resources.
Communal has a 50 percent ownership interest in 5 Elements Energy Efficiencies (BVI) Ltd., a beneficial owner of
approximately 2.5 percent of our common stock. Yeh-Mei Cheng controls 5 Elements Energy Efficiencies (BVI) Ltd.
and owns the other 50 percent. She is Co-Founder of Communal International Ltd. with Mr. Tu and the mother of
Simon Cheng, a current member of our Board of Directors and an employee of the Company.

On February 27, 2012, we entered into an Asian Business Development/Collaboration Agreement with Communal.
The agreement had a 60 months term, under which we paid $523 thousand to Communal in 2012.

Effective January 1, 2013, the Asian Business Development/Collaboration Agreement with Communal was amended
to reflect the extension of the terms of the Agreement for an additional twelve months, and the addition of certain
services and countries in the territory covered by the Agreement. In connection with the amended and restated
Agreement, we paid an additional $425 thousand in 2013 and recorded expense of $226 thousand. For the years ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, nothing was paid under this Agreement and we recorded expense of $226 thousand per
year. On December 23, 2015, we terminated the Agreement with Communal without penalty.

NOTE 15. LEGAL MATTERS

As to matters in which the loss is not considered both probable and estimable, or is considered probable but not
estimable, we do not establish an accrual in accordance with current accounting guidance. We are unable to estimate a
range of reasonably possible loss for matter described below, since the proceeding is at a stage where significant
uncertainty exists as to legal or factual issues and as to whether such matters will proceed to a final arbitration. Based
on currently available information, it is possible that a negative outcome could have a material impact on our results
for the period in which it occurs and, if applicable, our financial position, results of operations or cash flow in general.

On November 26, 2013, we announced the sale of our pool products business for a cash purchase price of $5.2
million. Under the terms of the Purchase Agreement, we sold substantially all of the assets associated with the pool
products business and the buyer assumed certain related liabilities. The Purchase Agreement provided for an escrow
of $500 thousand of the purchase price to secure customary indemnification obligations with respect to our
representations, warranties, covenants and other obligations under the Purchase Agreement. Under the terms of the
Purchase Agreement, the first of five $100 thousand scheduled escrow releases commenced on March 25, 2014, and
was to continue on the 25th day of each of the next four subsequent months. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, $200
thousand of the cash held in escrow had been released to us and $300 thousand remained in escrow subject to the
resolution of outstanding buyer claims. The Purchase Agreement provides that all disputes related to the sale must be
resolved through binding arbitration. On February 18, 2015, the buyer filed a claim with the American Arbitration
Association (“AAA”) asserting claims for damages of $780 thousand under the Purchase Agreement and relating to
product development, which was amended on September 1, 2015 to assert damages of $1.6 million. We believe the
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claims are without merit and asserted a counterclaim in the arbitration for the $300 thousand that still remains in
escrow. The arbitration process is continuing and we are unable to predict the outcome, however, we have reached an
agreement in principle with the buyer to settle the claim for the amount of the escrow fund and the parties are working
toward a written settlement agreement.

In addition to the matter described above, in the ordinary course of business, we may become involved in lawsuits and
administrative proceedings. Some of these proceedings may result in fines, penalties, or judgments which, from time
to time, may have an impact on its business and financial condition. Although the outcome of such lawsuits or other
proceedings cannot be predicted with certainty, we do not believe that any uninsured ultimate liabilities, individually
or in the aggregate, will have a material adverse effect on its liquidity, financial position, or results of operations.
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SUPPLEMENTARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION TO ITEM 8.

The following table sets forth our selected unaudited financial information for the four quarters in the periods ended
December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. This information has been prepared on the same basis as the audited
financial statements and, in the opinion of management, contains all adjustments necessary for a fair presentation
thereof.

QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
(amounts in thousands, except per share amounts)

2015 Fourth
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Net sales from continuing operations $17,249 $18,335 $16,232 $12,587
Gross profit from continuing operations 7,571 9,130 7,440 5,151
Net income from continuing operations 1,657 4,398 2,192 1,224
Net loss from discontinued operations (373 ) (142 ) (81 ) (95 )
Net income 1,284 4,256 2,111 1,129
Net income per share (basic):
Net income from continuing operations $0.14 $0.42 $0.22 $0.13
Net loss from discontinued operations (0.03 ) (0.01 ) (0.01 ) (0.01 )
Net income $0.11 $0.41 $0.21 $0.12
Net income per share (diluted):
Net income from continuing operations 0.14 0.41 0.22 0.12
Net loss from discontinued operations (0.03 ) (0.01 ) (0.01 ) (0.01 )
Net income $0.11 $0.40 $0.21 $0.11

2014 Fourth
Quarter

Third
Quarter (1)

Second
Quarter

First
Quarter

Net sales from continuing operations $8,844 $7,304 $4,456 $2,096
Gross profit from continuing operations 3,190 2,495 1,499 594
Net (loss) income from continuing operations (65 ) 256 (384 ) (4,053 )
Net loss from discontinued operations (685 ) (659 ) (238 ) (17 )
Net income (loss) (750 ) (403 ) (622 ) (4,070 )
Net (loss) income per share (basic and diluted):
Net (loss) income from continuing operations $(0.01 ) $0.03 $(0.05 ) $(0.79 )
Net loss from discontinued operations (0.07 ) (0.08 ) (0.03 ) —
Net loss $(0.08 ) $(0.05 ) $(0.08 ) $(0.79 )
(1) Adjusting the denominator of diluted earnings per share would be dilutive, even if an entity has income from
continuing operations after adjusting for discontinued operations. Therefore, the basic weighted average shares
outstanding were used in calculating both the basic and diluted earnings per share.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNT AND FINANCIAL
DISCLOSURES

None.
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ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures

We maintain “disclosure controls and procedures,” as such term is defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us
in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the
time periods specified in Securities and Exchange Commission rules and forms and that such information is
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating our
disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that disclosure controls and procedures, no matter how
well conceived and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the disclosure
controls and procedures are met. Our disclosure controls and procedures have been designed to meet reasonable
assurance standards. Additionally, in designing disclosure controls and procedures, our management necessarily was
required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible disclosure controls and
procedures. Any design of disclosure controls and procedures also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the
likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals
under all potential future conditions.

Based on their evaluation as of the end of the period covered by this Report on Form 10-K, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2015.

Management’s report on internal controls over financial reporting

The management of Energy Focus, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the
participation of management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an
evaluation of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting based upon criteria established in “Internal
Control – Integrated Framework (2013)” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the "COSO Framework").

An effective internal control system, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the possibility
of human error and circumvention or overriding of controls; therefore, it can provide only reasonable assurance with
respect to reliable financial reporting. Furthermore, effectiveness of an internal control system in future periods cannot
be guaranteed, because the design of any system of internal controls is based in part upon assumptions about the
likelihood of future events. There can be no assurance that any control design will succeed in achieving its stated
goals under all potential future conditions. Over time, certain controls may become inadequate because of changes in
business conditions, or the degree of compliance with policies and procedures may deteriorate. As such,
misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
COSO Framework as of December 31, 2014. Based on this evaluation, management concluded that there was a
material weaknesses identified in our internal controls as of December 31, 2014. The material weaknesses related to a
lack of effective controls over revenue recognition. Management developed and implemented certain controls during
2014 and the first quarter of 2015 to remediate this identified material weakness, including additional review systems,
standardized sales terms and conditions, and education and training. Management believes the material weakness was
remediated in the first quarter of 2015.
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Based upon our evaluation under the COSO framework as of December 31, 2015, management concluded that its
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2015.

Changes in internal control over financial reporting

During the fourth quarter of 2015, there were no material changes in our internal controls over financial reporting (as
defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

This Annual Report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm
regarding internal control over financial reporting. Management’s report was not subject to attestation by our
independent public
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accounting firm pursuant to the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission that permit us to provide only
management’s report.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

On March 4, 2016, the Board of Directors approved 2016 compensation arrangements for James Tu, Executive
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, Eric Hilliard, President and Chief Operating Officer, and Marcia Miller, Chief
Financial Officer and Secretary.
For 2016, the Board approved base salaries of $400,000 for Mr. Tu, $275,000 for Mr. Hilliard and $230,000 for Ms.
Miller. In addition, each executive officer will be eligible for a cash incentive payment of up to 200% of his salary for
Mr. Tu, 130% of his salary for Mr. Hilliard, and 120% of her salary for Ms. Miller, based upon the achievement of the
following performance goals: (i) net sales (with respect to 70% of the potential payment amount), and (ii) gross
margin (with respect to 30% of the potential payment amount).

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS, AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors

The information regarding our directors will be set forth under the caption “Election of Directors” in our Proxy
Statement for our 2016 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) and is incorporated herein by
reference.

Executive officers

The information regarding our executive officers is set forth under the caption entitled “Executive Officers of the
Registrant” following Item 4, in Part I, of this report and is incorporated herein by reference.

Section 16(a) beneficial ownership reporting compliance

The information regarding compliance with Section 16 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 will be set forth under
the caption entitled “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in our Proxy Statement and is
incorporated herein by reference.

Audit committee

The information regarding the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors and the information regarding “Audit
Committee Financial Experts” will be set forth under the caption entitled “Audit and Finance Committee” in our Proxy
Statement and is incorporated herein by reference.

Code of ethics

We have adopted a Code of Ethics and Business Conduct, which applies to all of our directors, officers, and
employees. Our Code of Ethics and Business Conduct can be found on our website at www.energyfocusinc.com. Any
person may receive a copy free of charge by writing to us at Energy Focus, Inc., 32000 Aurora Road, Suite B, Solon,
Ohio 44139, Attention: Secretary.
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We intend to disclose on our website any amendment to, or waiver from, a provision of our Code of Ethics and
Business Conduct that applies to our directors and executive officers, including our principal executive officer,
principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller, or any persons performing similar functions, and
that is required to be publicly disclosed pursuant to the rules of the Securities and Exchange Commission.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the information provided in the section
captioned “Executive Compensation and Other Information” to be included in our Proxy Statement.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information about security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management and related stockholder
matters required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the information to be provided in the section
captioned “Security Ownership of Principal Shareholders and Management” in our Proxy Statement. Information
regarding our equity compensation plans is set forth under Item 5 of this Annual Report under “Shares authorized for
issuance under equity compensation plans.”

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information regarding certain relationships and related transactions and director independence required by this
item is incorporated herein by reference to the information to be provided in our Proxy Statement under the captions
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” and “Director Independence.”
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information regarding principal accountant fees and services and the pre-approval policies and procedures
required by this item is incorporated herein by reference from the information to be contained in our Proxy Statement
under the captions “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” and “Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures.”
PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a)(1) Financial statements
The financial statements required by this Item 15(a)(1) are set forth in Item 8.

(2) Financial statement schedules

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts is set forth below. All other schedules are omitted either because they
are not applicable or the required information is shown in the financial statements or the notes.

SCHEDULE II
ENERGY FOCUS, INC.
SCHEDULE OF VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(amounts in thousands)

Description Beginning
Balance

Charges to
Revenue/
Expense

Deductions Ending
Balance

Year ended December 31, 2015
Allowance for doubtful accounts and returns $307 $39 $191 $155
Reserve for excess, obsolete, and slow moving
inventories 305 1,464 347 1,422

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 9,008 (1,240 ) — 7,768
Year ended December 31, 2014
Allowance for doubtful accounts and returns $52 $582 $327 $307
Reserve for excess, obsolete, and slow moving
inventories 158 194 47 305

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 6,051 2,957 — 9,008
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Year ended December 31, 2013
Allowance for doubtful accounts and returns $219 $(6 ) $161 $52
Reserve for excess, obsolete, and slow moving
inventories 613 146 601 158

Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets 27,496 (21,445 ) — 6,051
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 (3) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K

The information required by this Item is set forth on the Exhibit Index that follows the signature page of this report.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereto duly authorized.

ENERGY FOCUS, INC.

By: /s/ JAMES TU
James Tu
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 10, 2016

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities indicated on March 10, 2016.

Signature Title

/s/ James Tu Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
James Tu (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Marcia J. Miller Chief Financial Officer
Marcia J. Miller (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ Ronald D. Black Director
Ronald D. Black

/s/ Simon Cheng Director
Simon Cheng

/s/ William Cohen Director
William Cohen

/s/ Glenda Dorchak Director
Glenda Dorchak

/s/ Marc J. Eisenberg Director
Marc J. Eisenberg

/s/ Jiangang Luo Director
Jiangang Luo

/s/ Michael R. Ramelot Director
Michael R. Ramelot
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EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
Number Description of Documents

3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 13, 2013).

3.2 Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 16, 2014).

3.3 Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of the Registration (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 27, 2015).

3.4
Certificate of Designation of Series A Participating Preferred Stock of the Registrant (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 27,
2006).

3.5 Bylaws of the Registrant (filed with this Report).

3.6
Certificate of Ownership and Merger, Merging Energy Focus, Inc., a Delaware corporation, into
Fiberstars, Inc., a Delaware corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on May 10, 2007).

4.1 Form of Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant's
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 27, 2014).

4.2 Warrant among the Registrant and NextGen Partners, LLC dated January 24, 2014 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.8 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 27, 2014).

10.1* 2013 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Registrant's
Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF14A filed on August 16, 2013).

10.2* 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (Commission File No. 333-122-686) filed on February 10, 2005).

10.3* 2008 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference from Appendix B to the
Registrant’s Preliminary Proxy Statement on Form PRER14A filed on June 8, 2012).

10.4* 2014 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of the Registrant's
Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF14A filed on June 26, 2014).

10.5* Amendment to 2014 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B of the
Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A filed on June 18, 2015).

10.6* Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Grant Agreement to Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 16, 2014).

10.7* Form of Nonqualified Stock Option Grant Agreement to Employees (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 16, 2014).

10.8* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement to Employees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 16, 2014).

10.9* Form of Incentive Stock Option Grant Agreement to Employees (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K filed on July 16, 2014).

10.10
Convertible Promissory Note from the Registrant to TLC Investments, LLC, Jamie Hall, and Robert
E. Wilson dated December 31, 2009 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to the Registrant’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2010).

10.11 Form of Bonding Support Agreement dated as of December 29, 2009 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 31, 2010).

10.12
Form of Warrant Acquisition Agreement for bonding support dated as of December 29, 2009
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on
March 31, 2010).

10.13 Warrant Acquisition Agreement among the Registrant and the investors named therein dated March
30, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form
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10-K filed on March 31, 2010).

10.14* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant for 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 13, 2013).

10.15* Form of Notice of Stock Option Grant for 2008 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 99.2 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on September 8, 2010).

10.16
Amended and Restated Sublease Agreement between the Registrant and Keystone Ruby, LLC and
Cognovit Promissory Note as of September 1, 2010 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 of
the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 30, 2012).

10.17
Form of Securities Purchase Agreement between the Registrant and investors dated as of February
27, 2012 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form
10-K filed on March 30, 2012).
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21.1 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed with this Report).

23.1 Consent of Plante & Moran, PLLC, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (filed with this
Report).

31.1 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification by Chief Executive Officer (filed with this Report).

31.2 Rule 13a-14(a) Certification by Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial Officer (filed with
this Report).

32.1 Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Vice President of Finance and Chief
Financial Officer (filed with this Report).

101

The following financial information from Energy Focus, Inc. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2014, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i)
Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss), (iv) Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity,
(v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

70

Edgar Filing: ENERGY FOCUS, INC/DE - Form 10-K

127


